

LUND UNIVERSITY

The Wilms' tumor gene 1 (WT1) and leukemia -new insights and further complexity

Svensson, Emelie

2006

Link to publication

Citation for published version (APA): Svensson, E. (2006). *The Wilms' tumor gene 1 (WT1) and leukemia -new insights and further complexity.* [Doctoral Thesis (compilation), Division of Hematology and Transfusion Medicine]. Division of Hematology and Transfusion Medicine, Department of Laboratory Medicine, Lund University.

Total number of authors: 1

General rights

Unless other specific re-use rights are stated the following general rights apply:

Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors

and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights. • Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study

or research.

- You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
 You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal

Read more about Creative commons licenses: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/

Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

LUND UNIVERSITY

PO Box 117 221 00 Lund +46 46-222 00 00 Sektionen för Hematologi och Transfusionsmedicin Lunds Universitet

Wilms' tumor gene 1 (WT1) and leukemia -new insights and further complexity

Akademisk avhandling

av

Emelie Svensson



LUNDS UNIVERSITET Medicinska fakulteten

Akademisk avhandling som med vederbörligt tillstånd av Medicinska Fakulteten vid Lunds Universitet för avläggande av doktorsexamen i medicinsk vetenskap i ämnet experimentell hematologi kommer att offentligen försvaras i Fernströmssalen, BMC, Sölvegatan 19, Lund, fredagen den 16 juni 2006, kl. 13:00

Fakultetsopponent:

Professor Pierre Åman Lundberg Laboratory for Cancer Reserch Avdelningen för Patologi Göteborgs Universitet, Sverige

Organization LUND UNIVERSITY	Document name DOCTORAL DISSERTATIO	ON
Division of Hematology and Transfusion medicine	Date of issue June 16, 2006	
BMC, C14 S-211 84 Lund	Sponsoring organization	
Author(s)		
Emelie Svensson		
Title and subtitle		
The Wilms' tumor gene and leukemia - new in	sights and further complexity	
Abstract The Wilms tumor gene 1 (WT1) encodes a zinc-fing expressed in immature hematopoietic progenitor cell mutations in acute leukemia indicate a role for WT1 thesis was to investigate the role of WT1 during hum in how wild type WT1 and mutant WT1 affect prolif progenitor cells, CD34+ progenitor cells from cord b mutant of WT1, lacking the entire zinc-finger region WT1 but not mutant WT1 inhibited erythroid colony suspension cultures. Suprisingly, both WT1 and mutand stimulated myeloid differentiation of cells growr effects of WT1 are mediated by distinct molecular m independent. To further characterize the DNA-bindir analysis of WT1-transduced CD34+ progenitor cells regulated by wild type WT1. We found that WT1 up gene 2 (NDRG2) and downregulated interferon regul we also identified cofilin 1 as a novel protein partner Our data also indicate that BCR/ABL1 induce express kinase (PI3K)/Akt signaling pathway in the leukemic downregulated the expression of IRF-8, we propose t provide a mechanistic explanation for BCR/ABL1 in which high expression of WT1 can contribute to leuk	er containing transcription factor s. A high expression of WT1 and in the pathogenesis of leukemia. an hematopoiesis and leukemia. eration and differentiation of hur lood were transduced with wild thus incapable of binding DNA formation as well as erythroid d int WT1 were able to inhibit my i suspension culture. These rest echanisms that are both DNA-bi g dependent functions of WT1, was performed to identify genes regulated the expression of N-m atory factor 8 (IRF-8). Using a b of WT1. sion of the WT1 gene via the ph cell line K562. Given our findin hat WT1 is a link between BCR duced repression of IRF-8 and a emogenesis.	which is highly d the presence of somatic The ojective of this To gain further insights man hematopoietic type WT1 or with a . In these experiments, lifferentiation in eloid colony formation alts suggest that the nding dependent and a gene expression transcriptionally yc downstream regulated bacterial II hybrid assay, nosphatidylinositol-3 ng that WT1 /ABL1 and IRF-8. This general mechanism by
WII, hematopoiesis, leukemia, NDRC	2, cofilin 1, BCR/ABL1, IRF-8	
Classification system and/or index termes (if any):		
Supplementary bibliographical information:		Language
		English
ISSN and key title:		ISBN
1652-8220		91-85559-03-2
Recipient's notes	Number of pages 127	Price
	Security classification	
	L	

DOKUMENTDATABLAD enl SIS 61 41 21

Distribution by (name and address) I, the undersigned, being the copyright owner of the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation, hereby grant to all reference sources permission to publish and disseminate the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation. Signature <u>Huelic</u> Hueston Date <u>060508</u>

Wilms' tumor gene 1 (WT1) and leukemia -new insights and further complexity

Doctoral Thesis

by

Emelie Svensson

Division of Hematology and Transfusion medicine Lund University, Sweden

2006



LUND UNIVERSITY Faculty of Medicine

This thesis will be defended in Fernströmssalen, BMC, Sölvegatan 19, Lund, on June 16 at 13:00

Faculty opponent: Professor Pierre Åman Lundberg Laboratory for Cancer Reserch Department of Pathology Göteborg University, Gothenburg, Sweden

© Emelie Svensson 2006 ISBN 91-85559-03-2 Printed by Media-tryck, Lund, Sweden

Utan tvivel är man inte klok

Tage Danielsson Ur "Tankar från roten", 1974

TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF PAPERS	5
ABBREVIATIONS	6
INTRODUCTION	7
BACKGROUND	7
The role of WT1 in normal development	7
WT1 in hematopoiesis and leukemia	8
Hematopoiesis	8
Acute leukemia	10
Chronic myeloid leukemia (CML)	11
Expression of WT1 in normal hematopoiesis	13
Expression of WT1 in leukemia	14
WT1 as a marker for minimal residual disease (MRD)	14
WT1 as a target for immunotherapy in acute leukemia	15
Effects of WT1 in leukemia	15
Mutations of WT1 in leukemia	17
Structural and functional properties of WT1	17
The WT1 gene, mRNA and protein	17
Transcriptional regulation of the WT1 gene expression	19
Post-translational modifications of the WT1 protein	19
Different splicing – different function?	20
WT1 target genes	20
WT1 interacting proteins	22
THE PRESENT INVESTIGATIONS	24
AIMS OF THIS THESIS	24

EXPERIMENTAL CONSIDERATIONS	24
Retroviral transduction and overexpression	24
Oligonucleotide Array	25
Human hematopoietic colony-forming cell assay	25
Real time RT-PCR	26
Luciferase assay	26
Bacteriomatch II Two-Hybrid assay	27
Coimmunoprecipitation (Co-IP) and Glutathione S-Transferase (GST) pull down assay	27
RESULTS AND GENERAL DISCUSSION	28
How does WT1 affect proliferation and differentiation of hematopoietic progenitor cells?	28
The role of WT1 in leukemia	29
WT1 binding proteins	31
Target genes in leukemia and hematopoiesis	32
Is WT1 a link between BCR/ABL1 and IRF-8 in CML?	33
WT1 - friend or foe in leukemia?	35
SAMMANFATTNING PÅ SVENSKA	37
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	39
REFERENCES	40

APPENDIX I-IV

LIST OF PAPERS

- I. Emelie Svensson, Helena Eriksson, Christos Gekas, Tor Olofsson, Johan Richter and Urban Gullberg. DNA-binding dependent and independent functions of WT1 protein during human hematopoiesis. Experimental Cell Research 308:211-21, 2005.
- II. Emelie Svensson, Karina Vidovic, Tor Olofsson, Johan Vallon-Christersson, Åke Borg and Urban Gullberg. The Wilms' tumor gene 1 induces expression of the Nmyc downstream-regulated gene 2 (NDRG2). Submitted.
- III. Emelie Svensson, Karina Vidovic, Åke Borg, Johan Vallon-Christersson, Tor Olofsson, Carin Lassen, Petra Håkansson, Thoas Fioretos and Urban Gullberg. The oncogenic fusion protein BCR/ABL1 induces expression of Wilms' tumor gene 1, which acts as a transcriptional repressor of interferon regulatory factor 8. Manuscript.
- IV. Karina Vidovic, Emelie Svensson and Urban Gullberg. Identification of cofilin 1 as a novel WT1 interacting protein. Manuscript.

Paper I is printed with the permission from Elsevier.

ABBREVIATIONS

aa	amino acids	
AML	Acute myeloid leukemia	
ALL	Acute lymphocytic leukemia	
APL	Acute promyelocytic leukemia	
BCR/ABL1	Breakpoint cluster region/Abelson murine leukemia viral	
	homolog 1	
BFU	Burst forming unit	
BM	Bone marrow	
CFU	Colony forming unit	
CML	Chronic myeloid leukemia	
DDS	Denys-Drash syndrome	
FS	Fraiser syndrome	
eGFP	Enhanced green fluorescence protein	
HSC	Hematopoietic stem cell	
IRES	Internal ribosomal entry site	
IRF-8	Interferon regulatory factor 8	
LCS	Leukemic stem cell	
kbp	kilo base pair	
kDa	kilo Dalton	
MDS	Myelodysplastic syndrome	
MRD	Minimal residual disease	
NDRG	N-myc downstream regulated gene	
WT1	Wilms' tumor gene 1	

INTRODUCTION

Hematopoiesis and leukemia

Hematopoiesis is the process by which blood cells are produced in the bone marrow. A small population of so-called hematopoietic stem cells (HSC) in the bone marrow has the ability to self-renew and thus maintains hematopoiesis throughout life. As a result of asymmetric cell division, stem cells can differentiate into all the hematopoietic lineages. The endpoint of the hematopoietic lineages are terminally differentiated cell types with specialized functions, including leukocytes important for the immune system, erythrocytes functioning as oxygen transporters and thrombocytes critical for blood clotting and coagulation. The decision of the stem cell between self-renewal and differentiation involves a complex interplay between transcription factors and growth factors.

In leukemia, the differentiation process of HCS is disturbed. The production of normal, functional blood cells is repressed, leading to accumulation of immature leukemic cells in the bone marrow and blood. Patients with leukemia therefore suffer from loss of erythrocytes, leukocytes and thrombocytes, resulting in anemia, infection and bleeding disorders. Acute leukemia is rapidly fatal, if the disease is left untreated.

The aim of this thesis is to increase the understanding of the role of the transcription factor Wilms' tumor gene 1 (WT1) in normal hematopoiesis and leukemia.

BACKGROUND

The role of WT1 in normal development

Originally, WT1 was identified as a gene deleted or inactivated in a subset of patients with Wilms' tumor, a pediatric kidney cancer [1]. During embryogenesis, WT1 is necessary for the development of kidneys, gonads, spleen and mesothelial tissues as judged by severe malformations in transgenic mice with deleted WT1, which die in utero [2]. These transgenic mice lack kidneys, caused by a widespread apoptosis in the renal stem cells population, suggesting a role for WT1 in survival of these cells [3]. The effects of WT1 mutations in two human syndromes underscore the important role of WT1. Patients with Denys-Drash and Frasier syndromes, harbouring heterozygous WT1 mutations, are associated with severe renal failure, male-to-female sex reversal and a predisposition to development of Wilms' tumor.

Recently, it has been shown that WT1 also plays an important role in the development of the retina and olfactory system [4,5] as well as in spermatopoiesis [6]

WT1 in hematopoiesis and leukemia

Hematopoiesis

Hematopoiesis is the process by which all blood cells in the body are produced. Each day about 1 trillion blood cells are produced in the bone marrow [7]. All these blood cells are generated from a small population of so-called hematopoietic stem cells (HSC), which constitutes less than 0.1% of the nucleated cells in the bone marrow [8]. The HSCs must be capable of both self-renewal to maintain the HSC pool, but also to differentiate into all types of blood cells. The HSCs were first identified as a cell population capable of reconstitution of hematopoiesis in lethally radiated mice. These cells can not be recognized morphologically, but through phenotypical analysis of cell surface markers they can be highly enriched [9]. The multipotent HSC generate all the mature blood cells through successive differentiation into oligolineage progenitors including the common lymphocyte progenitors (CLPs) and common myeloid progenitors (CMP) (Figure 1). The CLPs generate T lymphocytes, B lymphocytes and NK killer cells, while CMPs generate granulocytic/monocytic progenitors (GMPs) and megakaryocytic/ erythrocytic progenitors (MEPs), which differentiate into granulocytes or monocytes/ macrophages and megakaryocytes or erythrocytes, respectively (Figure 1).

To produce an adequate number of mature cells, hematopoiesis has to be strictly regulated and the molecular mechanisms behind self-renewal and lineage commitment have been intensely studied. Previous studies have shown that intrinsic transcription factors, but also external signaling pathways mediated by regulatory cytokines, regulate these processes. According to the stochastic model, lineage commitment is a random event, where the expression of one lineage-specific transcription factor suddenly increase and initiate differentiation to a particular lineage. Cytokines are in this model only important for proliferation and survival of committed cells. In the instructive model, cytokines directly upregulate specific transcription factors driving lineage determination [10]. A more recent model combines the two models by suggesting that stem cells and progenitors express low levels of all lineage-specific transcription factors, which cross-antagonize each other. Some event, stochastic or environmental, increase the level of one lineage-specific



Figure 1. A simplistic picture of the hematopoietic stem cell tree and examples of transcription factors involved in lineage specific differentiation. Abbreviations used; HSC, hematopoietic stem cell; CLP, common lymphoid progenitor; CMP, common myeloid progenitor; GMP, granulocytic/monocytic progenitor; MEP, megakaryocytic/erythrocytic progenitor.

transcription factor which then exceeds the other one and activates the target genes that characterize that lineage [7]. Positive auto-regulation feedback loops may further increase the levels of that specific transcription factor thereby promoting the differentiation process.

Whatever model that is correct for the initiation of differentiation, it is clear that transcription factors are indeed key regulators for lineage-specific differentiation. Specific combinations of transcription factors, rather than one master regulator promote lineage specific-differentiation. The transcription factors regulate the differentiation process via a number of mechanisms. One important mechanism is inhibition of alternative pathways through cross-antagonizing activities, exemplified by the PU.1-GATA-1 interaction (reviewed in [7]). PU.1 is absolutely required for granulocytic, monocytic and lymphocytic development, while GATA-1 is important for erythrocytic and megakaryocytic development (Figure 1). PU.1 inhibits GATA-

1 function by disrupting its ability to bind DNA. In contrast, GATA-1 inhibits PU.1 by preventing it from interacting with its essential co-activator c-Jun. Some studies have also shown that GATA-1, C/EBP α and PU.1 positively regulate their own expression via autoregulation. Moreover, to induce terminal differentiation, the expression of additional lineagespecific target genes are activated by these transcriptional regulators. PU.1 has been shown to activate transcription of the GM-CSF, G-CSF and M-CSF growth-factor receptor genes that are expressed on myeloid cells, while GATA-1 activates the transcription of the erythropoietin receptor gene. Another transcription factor, which is interacting with PU.1 and is essential for monocytic development, is interferon regulatory factor 8 (IRF-8) [11]. IRF-8 was shown to potentiate monocyte differentiation while inhibiting granulocytic differentiation.

Thus, hematopoiesis is the process by which hematopoietic stem cells differentiate into all types of mature blood cells. This process is strictly regulated by transcription factors and regulatory cytokines to maintain hematopoiesis throughout life.

Acute leukemia

Leukemia is a malignant disease of hematopoietic tissues where acute and chronic forms exist. Acute myeloid leukemia (AML) is characterized by an increased number of immature hematopoietic cells of the myeloid origin, so called leukemic blasts, in the bone marrow and blood. These cells have a severe block in differentiation, but retain the ability of proliferation and survival. Chronic myeloid leukemia (CML) is on the other hand characterized by a massive expansion of myeloid cells with a more or less preserved differentiation. However, after additional genetic changes CML eventually develop into acute leukemia. In acute leukemia the normal hematopoiesis is suppressed by the leukemic blasts in the bone marrow, leading to a shortage of normal blood cells (Figure 2). Leukemia patients therefore suffer from anemia, and have an increased susceptibility to infections and bleeding.

Leukemia is a clonal disease which means that it originates from a single leukemic stem cell. A small pool of leukemic stem cells (LSC) supports the continued growth and propagation of the disease [12]. The origin of the LSC is controversial; it could be a transformed HSC with capacity of self-renewal or a progenitor cell that has acquired the ability to self-renew. Several transforming events causing deregulation of genes important in proliferation, differentiation and apoptosis are required for a cell to be fully transformed. These can be divided into two categories: (1) mutations that confer proliferation and/or survival e.g. overexpression of cmyc which positively controls cell cycle, inactivation of tumor suppressors as p53 which negatively regulates cell cycle, or overexpression of antiapoptotic genes such as Bcl-2, and (2) mutations that impair differentiation. Chromosomal translocations, which are common in leukemia, are often examples of the latter. These kinds of translocations often involve transcription factors normally involved in lineage choice and differentiation, exemplified by PML/RAR α in acute promyelocytic leukemia (APL) and AML1/ETO in acute myeloid leukemia (AML). The fusion proteins acquire novel dominant functions, blocking normal differentiation.



Figure 2. Simplified model of the development of acute leukemia

Chronic myeloid leukemia (CML)

The chromosomal translocation between chromosome 9 and 22 fuses the gene encoding ABL1 to the BCR gene [13]. This translocation is present in more than 95 % of all CML-patients [14]. The normal ABL1 and BCR proteins are ubiquitously expressed. The ABL1 protein is a nonreceptor tyrosine kinase protein involved in signal transduction via integrins, in cell cycle regulation and in response to DNA damage, whereas the function of the BCR

protein is largely unknown. Fusion of the proteins enhances the tyrosine kinase activity of ABL1, which appears to be critical for transformation of target cells. One mechanism by which BCR/ABL1 contributes to the transformation process is by constitutive activation of the JAK/STAT, Ras/Raf/MEK/ERK and PI3K/Akt signal transduction pathways (reviewed in [13,15-17]). These pathways are normally activated by several hematopoietic growth factors and their receptors in a tightly controlled way to regulate cell proliferation and survival. Deregulation of these pathways contributes to malignant transformation. In the bone marrow, hematopoietic progenitor cells normally adhere to stroma cells and extracellular matrix via integrins, which functions as an important regulator of their proliferation, differentiation and apoptosis. CML is characterized by a massive expansion of myeloid cells and CML progenitor cells have been shown to have altered adhesion properties. Therefore, one could speculate that CML-cells escape growth-inhibiting signals due to decreased adhesion to stroma cells, resulting in an immature cell population able to expand and leave the bone marrow prematurely. Thus, BCR/ABL1-mediated effects in transformation seem to include activation of signaling pathways promoting cell proliferation and survival, as well as perturbed ability of the cells to interact with stroma and extracellular matrix.

The understanding of the molecular biology of CML has emerged from studies using CML cell lines, CML primary cells and animal models. The transforming potential of BCR/ABL1 has been shown both in vitro and in vivo. Expression of BCR/ABL1 in fibroblast cell lines induced anchorage-independent growth in soft agar and growth factor independence in growth factor dependent hematopoietic cell lines. Furthermore, retroviral transduction of BCR/ABL1 to murine bone marrow cells followed by transplantation to mice induced a chronic phase CML-like disease [13]. Human CD34⁺ cells overexpressing BCR/ABL1 showed similar phenotypic features as CML CD34⁺ cells, including altered adhesion, increased proliferation and delayed apoptosis. Thus, BCR/ABL1 is central for the conversion of the target cell into a CML-leukemic stem cell. However, the mechanisms underlying the progression of the chronic phase into the acute phase are not known, although additional genetic changes are most likely to be required. Deletions or inactivating mutations of tumor suppressor genes such as p53, pRB or p16 have been detected in leukemic cells from patients in blast crisis as well as overexpression of EVI-1 and c-myc. These findings support the notion that additional loss of tumor suppressors and/or gain of oncogene function is causing transformation into blast crisis.

The clinical importance of BCR/ABL1 in the pathogenesis of CML has called for a search of pharmacological inhibitors of the tyrosine kinase activity of ABL1. Today, CML patients are treated with imatinib mesylate, which inhibits the ABL1 tyrosine kinase activity and induces apoptosis in BCR/ABL1-positive cells, further emphasizing the important pathogenetic role of BCR/ABL1 in CML. However, not all BCR/ABL1-positive cells are eradicated and with time resistance to imatinib is often developed. It is therefore important to identify additional potential therapeutic targets in CML.

Expression of WT1 in normal hematopoiesis

Expression of WT1 in human cells of hematopoietic origin has suggested a role for WT1 in control of proliferation and/or differentiation of hematopoietic cells. Characterisation of its expression pattern indicate that WT1 is expressed in primitive immature cells; it is expressed in human CD34⁺ bone marrow (BM) cells, but not in CD34⁻ BM cells or in peripheral blood mononuclear cells [18-20]. Approximately 1% of the CD34⁺ BM cells, which accounts for 1-4% of normal whole BM cell population, express WT1 [21]. *In vitro*, the WT1 expression in CD34⁺ cells is rapidly downregulated upon differentiation [22]. These findings suggested a role for WT1 in early hematopoiesis. An ability of WT1 to enhance stem cell preservation and/or survival was proposed, as well as a prerequisite for downregulation of WT1 for differentiation. However, a biphasic expression pattern of WT1 during hematopoiesis has also been detected; WT1 was expressed in quiescent progenitor cells and then expressed in committed cells expressing surface markers for myeloid and B-cell differentiation [23].

Results from murine transgenic knockout models do not strongly support a role for WT1 in hematopoiesis. WT1 is expressed in murine embryonic liver and yolk sac at day E12.5, which is the tissue for active hematopoiesis at that time [19]. Although WT1-null mice die *in utero* before mature hematopoiesis is achieved, these mice show no hematological defects [3]. However, one study using embryonic stem cells lacking WT1, demonstrate that although WT1 is not absolutely essential for hematopoiesis, it leads to functional defects in growth potential. Cells lacking WT1 reconstitute the hematopoiesis of an irradiated mouse, but not in competition with normal HSC [24]. One could therefore speculate that WT1 activates genes that confer a competitive advantage to HSC, leading to increased proliferation and/or survival. However, a more recent study showed no reduced in vitro colony-forming ability or reconstitution of hematopoiesis in irradiated mice by WT1-null cells [25]. It is possible that this discrepancy can be explained by differences between the mouse-strains used.

Nevertheless, one must be aware of the differences between mice and man. WT1 is expressed in almost all human leukemias but not in mouse leukemias, and WT1^{+/-} knockout mice are not predisposed to Wilms tumor, which is the case for children with inactivation of one WT1 allele.

Expression of WT1 in leukemia

The WT1 protein is highly expressed in the majority of patients with myelodysplastic (MDS) syndromes, acute myeloid (AML) and acute lymphoid (ALL) leukemia, chronic myeloid leukemia (CML) and leukemic cell lines [26-30]. It has been a matter of debate whether WT1 is indeed overexpressed in leukemic cells, as compared to normal progenitors. However, a recent report using single cell analysis of WT1 expression show convincingly that WT1-expression is normally restricted to a small subset of hematopoietic progenitor cells and that the expression levels per cell among these progenitors are quite similar to those in leukemic cells [21]. Thus, the level of WT1 expression seems to correlate to immaturity rather than malignant phenotype and the leukemic cells represent an expansion of those early progenitor cells expressing WT1.

No correlation between WT1 expression and age, FAB type or karyotype at diagnosis was found in AML-patients [26,31], with the exception of the more differentiated AML subtypes M4 and M5 with lower WT1 expression [26,30]. This is consistent with the finding that expression of WT1 was downregulated during differentiation of the leukemic cell lines K562 and HL60 [32,33]. Moreover, expression of WT1 mRNA was significantly lower in ALL cells, as well as M5 AML, as compared to other acute leukemias [34]. However, in another investigation, no striking differences were found between different FAB subtypes [35]. Some groups found a clear correlation between low WT1 levels and complete remission, disease-free survival and overall survival for acute leukemia patients [28,36-38], which was not confirmed by others [31,39].

WT1 as a marker for minimal residual disease (MRD)

In view of the finding that the majority of patients with acute leukemia express WT1, it has been suggested that WT1 expression might be used as a marker for the minimal residual disease (MRD) in treated leukemia patients, even in the absence of a tumor-specific DNA marker e.g. BCR/ABL1. Several groups have addressed this question using different methods, which have produced conflicting results [36,40-42]. Moreover, since WT1 is also expressed

in a subset of normal stem/progenitor cells, it might be difficult to detect small blast cell population in the bone marrow. New studies, however, using the sensitive real time RT-PCR method to examine WT1 expression after treatment showed an early detection of relapse [34,38], indicating that this might be a good method for both short- and long-term monitoring of leukemia patients.

WT1 as a target for immunotherapy in acute leukemia

Since WT1 is expressed in most acute leukemias, WT1 protein was suggested to be useful as a tumor antigen suitable for immunotherapy. The aim is to elaborate a WT1 vaccine eliciting a WT1-specific immune response, including generation of WT1-specific cytotoxic T-cells (CTL) and antibodies, to eradicate leukemic cells expressing WT1. However, there are two potential problems with this type of therapy; (1) since WT1 normally is expressed in some tissues, it may be impossible to elicit an immune response to the protein and (2) an effective immune response could result in destruction of tissues normally expressing WT1.

Nevertheless, mouse models have shown promising results of WT1 as a tumor antigen for immunotherapy, where immunization with WT1-peptides or WT1 DNA generated WT1-specific CTLs which lysed leukemic cells but not cells normally expressing WT1 [43-46]. The detection of WT1-specific antibodies in leukemia patients has also proven that WT1 is immunogenic in vivo [47] and WT1-expressing leukemic cells were also killed by human WT1-specific CTLs generated in vitro [48,49]. Based on these results clinical trials with WT1-peptide based vaccination have been initiated, which so far seem very promising [50].

Effects of WT1 in leukemia

A potential role for WT1 in leukemia was initially suggested based on the observations that WT1 is expressed in almost all acute leukemias and downregulated during induced differentiation of both normal hematopoietic progenitor cells as well as leukemic cell lines [22,32,33]. Several studies have since then strengthened the hypothesis that WT1 promotes an undifferentiated phenotype and interferes with differentiation. High levels of WT1(+KTS) (one of four WT1 isoforms, as described below) in murine hematopoietic bone marrow or the murine myeloid progenitor cell line 32D cl3 was shown to inhibit differentiation, but promote proliferation in response to G-CSF [51,52]. Moreover, constitutive expression of WT1(-KTS) and WT1(+KTS) in the human leukemic cell lines K562 or HL60 arrested TPA-induced differentiation [53,54] and blocked part of the differentiation program in leukemic U937 cells [55]. Repression of WT1 expression, using methods such as antisense oligonucleotides in

K562 and MM6 cells or siRNA in K562, Kasumi-1, MV 4-11 and NB-4 cells, as well as in cells from CML patients, resulted in inhibited proliferation and induced apoptosis [56,57], lending further support for a pro-leukemic role of WT1. Consistent with an oncogenic function of WT1, it was recently shown that when bone marrow cells overexpressing WT1 were transduced with AML1/ETO, acute myeloid leukemia was rapidly induced in transplanted mice [58]. Neither WT1 nor AML1/ETO were able to induce leukemia alone, consistent with the idea that several genetic alterations of genes involved in proliferation and differentiation are required for the development of leukemia. On the molecular level, WT1 has also been shown to regulate genes that promotes proliferation and counteracts apoptosis e.g. c-myc and Bcl-2 [59,60]. Thus, these studies are all consistent with an oncogenic function of WT1 promoting proliferation and survival and blocking differentiation.

However, other studies suggest that WT1 promotes differentiation and decreases survival. Smith *et al*, showed that stable expression of WT1(+KTS) induced monocytic differentiation in the murine myeloblastic leukemia cell line, M1, followed by terminal macrophage differentiation and apoptosis after addition of leukemia inhibitory factor (LIF) [61]. Establishment of clones expressing the WT1(-KTS) isoforms was not possible to achieve, pointing to even stronger growth suppression effects by these isoforms. These data were corroborated by results from two other groups showing G1 arrest and apoptosis in M1 cells induced by WT1(-KTS) [62], and G-CSF induced differentiation promoted by WT1(-KTS) in the murine myeloid progenitor cell line 32D cl3 [63].

Recent reports from retroviral overexpression of WT1 in primary hematopoietic progenitors and leukemic cell lines also support a role for WT1 as a tumor suppressor rather than an oncogene. Retroviral transduction of WT1(-KTS) in cord blood progenitor cells induces cellular quiescence of early progenitors and myelo-monocytic differentiation of later progenitors [23,64,65]. The molecular mechanism(s) by which WT1 induces this phenotype is unknown, but WT1 has been shown to upregulate the expression of antiproliferative proteins such as p21 [66]. Clearly, there are conflicting results concerning the role of WT1 in proliferation and differentiation, which possibly reflects different experimental conditions or dependence on the cellular context.

Mutations of WT1 in leukemia

WT1 mutations have been found in about 15% of cases of acute myeloid leukemia (AML), 20% of biphenotypic leukemia, but mutations are rare in acute lymphoblastic leukemia (ALL) [67-69]. In AML, the presence of WT1 mutations is correlated to low response to chemotherapy, poor prognosis and low survival rate. WT1 mutations in leukemia are often heterozygous with one wild-type allele remaining. The mutations are often small insertions or missense mutations resulting in either point mutations in the zinc-finger domain or in truncated WT1 protein, lacking most of the zinc-fingers, both types with reduced DNA-binding ability (Figure 3) [67,69]. Zinc-finger deficient WT1 retains, however, the ability to interact with certain proteins, including WT1 itself, through binding to the aminoterminal. Therefore WT1 mutants could contribute to leukemogenesis by exerting a dominant negative effect on remaining wild type WT1. The functional properties of mutated WT1 are, however, not experimentally studied, with the exception of one study with murine embryonic stem (ES) cells harboring WT1 truncated at zinc-finger 3 (heterozygous, homozygous) showing delayed, but not abolished hematopoiesis [70].



Figure 3. *Two types of WT1 mutations found in leukemia. Type 1 mutations are represented by framshift mutations producing a truncated WT1 protein, while type 2 mutations are point mutations resulting in amino acid substitutions, affecting DNA-binding.*

Structural and functional properties of WT1

The WT1 gene, mRNA and protein

The human WT1 gene is localized at chromosome 11p13 and spans about 50 kb. It encodes a mRNA about 3 kb long which contains 10 exons [71,72]. WT1 protein has many properties that are typical of transcription factors. It contains transactivation and repression domains, nuclear localization signals and four C-terminal Cys₂His₂ zinc-fingers mediating DNA-

binding. The N-terminal also contains an oligomerization domain and a RNA recognition motif (Figure 4).



Figure 4. Schematic picture of the WT1 protein and its functional domains.

Differential splicing of the WT1 mRNA transcript produce four major variants. The first splicing includes or excludes exon five, coding for 17 amino acids, between the transactivation domain and the zinc-fingers [73]. This sequence is conserved in all studied mammalian species [74]. The second alternative splice includes or excludes 3 amino acids, lysine, threonine and serine (KTS), between zinc finger 3 and 4 [73]. The importance of this alternative splice is underscored by its conservation in all vertebrates [75,76]. The major WT1 isoforms are designated -/- (lacks both inserts), +/- (contains the 17 aa but lacks the KTS insert), -/+ (lacks the 17 aa but contains the KTS insert) and +/+ (contains both the 17 aa and KTS insert) (Figure 4). The WT1 splicing pattern is similar in normal hematopoietic cells and leukemic cells with a relatively higher level of exon 5-containing variants of WT1 as compared to KTS containing WT1-variants [35,77]. Neither the regulation of the splicing pattern nor the significance of the different levels of each isoform is known. Depending on the different splicing inserts, proteins with molecular masses between 52-54 kDa are produced [78].

Transcriptional regulation of the WT1 gene expression

Expression of the WT1 gene is developmentally regulated and restricted to specific cell types. What regulatory factors that control the expression of WT1 are largely still unknown. The WT1 promoter is a member of the GC-rich, TATA-less and CCAAT-less class of RNA polymerase II promoters and contains binding sites for the regulatory factors PAX2, PAX8, SP1 and WT1 itself [79-85]. However, when studying the transcriptional activity, the promoter was active in all cell lines investigated, indicating that other regulatory elements outside the promoter region are needed for the tissue-specific expression of WT1 [86]. A hematopoietic specific enhancer located in the 3' end of the gene, 50 kbp downstream of the promoter, containing two GATA sites was also identified. This 3' enhancer was highly active in the erythroleukemia cell lines K562 and HEL, consistent with an erythroid specific function. Subsequently, another hematopoietic specific enhancer in the third intron was identified [87]. This enhancer was transactivated by GATA-1 and c-myb in hematopoietic cell lines, especially those of myeloid origin. Thus, so far two hematopoietic specific enhancer sequences have been identified but further investigations are needed to completely reveal the mechanisms controlling WT1 expression.

Post-translational modifications of the WT1 protein

Post-translational modifications such as phosphorylation, sumoylation, ubiquitination and acetylation are mechanisms that can regulate the activity state, stability and subcellular localization of proteins. Recently, two sumoylation sites in the N-terminal domain of WT1 (Lys-73 and Lys-177) were identified [88]. Although both sites were indeed sumoylated in vivo, no effects on WT1(-KTS) mediated transcriptional activation of the target genes amphiregulin or podocalyxin could be detected. Moreover, the nuclear localization of WT1 was not affected by direct sumoylation conjugation. The functional consequence of sumoylation, if any, is therefore presently unknown. Two phosphorylation sites have been identified in zinc-finger 2 and 3 (Ser-365 and Ser-393) of WT1. When phosphorylated, the DNA-binding of WT1 was inhibited followed by a decreased transcriptional repression activity, and some cytoplasmic retention of WT1 modulate transcriptional activity and nuclear localization of WT1.

Different splicing – different function?

Some experimental evidence indicate that the WT1(+KTS) and WT1(-KTS) variants have different functions; while the WT1(-KTS) isoform is proposed to have a role in transcriptional regulation, a role for WT1(+KTS) in pre-mRNA splicing has been suggested. It has been shown that WT1(+KTS) binds DNA with less affinity than WT1(-KTS) but mRNA with higher affinity than WT1(-KTS) [91]. Moreover, WT1(+KTS) isoforms colocalize with different proteins involved in mRNA-splicing [92-94] and interact with the splicing factor U2AF65 [95]. The different isoforms also localize to different subnuclear compartments; the WT1(-KTS) form is diffusely located throughout the nucleus, as other transcription factors e.g. Sp1, while the WT1(+KTS) form is expressed in a speckled pattern within the nucleus [96]. In humans, the importance of WT1(+KTS) is underscored by the developmental defects in kidneys and gonads as well as male-to-female sex reversal in patients with Fraiser syndrome (FS) [97]. In FS the expression of WT1(+KTS) is decreased as a result of a germline mutation in the exon 9-donor consensus site.

As mentioned above, exon 5 encoding the 17 amino acid insert is unique to mammals. The exact function of exon 5 is presently unknown. In transgenic mice, an exon 5 knockout model showed no functional requirement for this insert since the mice developed normally [74]. However, it is possible that the phenotypic effects of this insert are subtler and thus escaped detection. Recently, two groups showed that siRNA to WT1(+17aa) but not WT1(-17aa) induced apoptosis in human leukemic cell lines, suggesting an antiapoptotic role of 17 aa [98,99]. In support of this notion, constitutive expression of the WT1(+17aa) isoforms in K562 inhibited apoptosis induced by etoposide and doxorubicin [98] and expression of WT1(+17 aa/-KTS) in 293 cells rescued them from UV-induced cell death in contrast in WT1(-17aa/-KTS) [100]. Interestingly, exon 5 has been reported to interact with the prostate response protein 4 (Par4) involved in apoptosis [100]. Thus, it is possible that 17aa confers a survival mechanism of WT1 by interacting with Par-4 or other proteins.

WT1 target genes

As a transcription factor, WT1 was first characterized as a transcriptional repressor of genes containing the GC-rich EGR1-binding sequence in transient transfection studies. Later on, however, both transcriptional activation and repression of reporter constructs have been reported, depending upon the number of binding sites within the promoter, cellular context and choice of expression vector [101]. Target genes regulated by WT1 include genes involved

in proliferation and cell cycle regulation, growth factor receptors, apoptosis, development of the genitourinary system and hematopoietic specific genes. Most often, these target genes are most efficiently transactivated by the WT1(–KTS) isoform of WT1 (Table I).

Target gene	Regulation of transcript	References
Growth factor receptors		
Epidermal growth factor receptor	Repression	[102]
Insulin growth factor I receptor	Repression	[103]
Growth factors		
Amphiregulin	Activation	[104]
Erythropoietin	Activation	[105]
Insulin-like growth factor II	Activation	[106]
Connective tissue growth factor	Repression	[107]
Transcription factor genes		
Dax-1	Activation	[108]
SRY	Activation	[109]
Pou4f2	Activation	[110]
Apoptosis regulators		
A1/Bfl-1	Activation	[111]
Bak	Activation	[112]
Bcl-2	Activation	[60]
Cell cycle regulators		
Cyclin E	Repression	[113]
c-myc	Activation	[59]
Ornithine decarboxylase	Repression	[114]
P21	Activation	[66]
RbAp46	Activation	[115]
Others		
E-cadherin	Activation	[116]
Syndecan-1	Activation	[117]
Nephrin	Activation	[118]
Podocalyxin	Activation	[119]
Sprouty1	Activation	[120]
TauT	Activation	[121]
TERT	Repression	[122]
Vitamine D receptor	Activation	[123,124]
*		

Table I. Genes regulated by WT1 at the endogenous level

WT1 interacting proteins

Several protein partners binding to WT1 have been identified using yeast two-hybrid assays and coimmunoprecipitation experiments (Table II). Many of these proteins are also transcription factors and/or modulate the activity of WT1. The identification of protein partners may reveal novel information on how WT1 is involved in cellular proliferation and differentiation. WT1 interact with a number of proteins that modulate the transcriptional regulation exerted by WT1, exemplified by Par-4 and CBP. Par-4 (prostate apoptosis response 4) is upregulated during apoptosis in prostate cancer cells [125]. It interacts with the zincfinger of WT1 and acts as a transcriptional repressor. As mentioned above, Par-4 has also been shown to interact with the 17 aa of WT1 and thereby rescue UV-treated cells from apoptosis [100]. Another interesting cofactor is CBP (CREB binding protein), which also binds to the zinc-fingers of WT1. CBP works as a coactivator for WT1 and transcriptional activation is hereby enhanced [126]. It has been suggested that CBP is mediating binding between WT1 and p53. The interaction is mediated by the zinc-fingers of WT1 and results in modulation of their transactivational activities and protein stability [137]. WT1 has also been reported to bind the p53 homologues p63 and p73. Since most acute leukemias harbour wild type p53 and p73 [151], it is tempting to speculate that the poor response to chemotherapy in leukemias with mutated WT1 is related to perturbation of p53/p73-function.

Also the molecular chaperone heat shock protein 70 (Hsp70) interacts with WT1 [127]. The interaction between the N-terminal part of WT1 and Hsp70 induce expression of Hsp70, and is also important for the induction of p21 and G1 arrest, as well as for inhibition of colony formation of osteosarcoma cells. In other cases, it is rather WT1, which functions as a transcriptional cofactor. WT1 has been shown to interact with SRY (sex-determining region) and SF-1 (steroidogenic factor 1) to activate genes involved in sex-determining processes [128,129].

Hence, apart from direct regulation of target genes by zinc-finger dependent binding to DNA, several effects of WT1 are probably mediated by direct interactions of WT1 with other proteins.

Table II. W	F1 binding	proteins
-------------	------------	----------

Protein	WT1-interacting domain	Remarks	References
WT1	N-terminus	Oligomerization important for dominant negative function of WT1 mutants?	[130]
Hsp70	N-terminus	Promotes growth inhibition of WT1	[127]
UBC9	N-terminus	Involved in sumoylation of WT1	[131]
SF1	N-terminus	Promotes WT1(-KTS) regulation of	[129]
BASP1	N-terminus	WT1 TA↓	[132]
Pax-2	N-terminus	Consequence of interaction is unknown	[133]
Par-4	17 aa	WT1(+17aa) TA↑; Rescues cells from	[100]
	Zn-fingers	WT1 TA↓; WT1 TR↑	[125]
U2AF65	Zn-fingers	Suggested to have a role in	[95]
WTAP	Zn-fingers	Unknown function	[134]
Ciao1	Zn-fingers	WT1 TA↓; no effect on TR	[135]
BMZF2	Zn-fingers	WT1 TA↓	[136]
p53	Zn-fingers	Stabilization of p53 and inhibition of p53-mediated apoptosis; TA of WT1 is inhibited	[137,138]
p63	Not determined	Consequence of interaction is unknown [139]	
p73	Zn-fingers	p73 inhibits DNA-binding and TA	[139]
CBP	Zn-fingers	WT1 TA↑	[126]
SRY	Zn-fingers	WT1 and SRY act synergistically to	[128]
E1B55K	Zn-fingers	Inhibits WT-mediated cell death	[140]

HCMV-1E2 Zn-fingersConsequence of interaction is unknown [141]The abbreviations used; TA, transcriptional activation; TR, transcriptional repression; Zn-
fingers, Zinc fingers; WT1, Wilms tumor gene1; Hsp70, Heat shock protein 70; Par-4,
Prostate apoptosis respone 4; UBC9, Ubiquitin-conjugating enzyme 9; SF-1, Steroidogenic
factor 1; BASP1, Brain acid soluble protein 1; WTAP, WT1 associating protein; BMZF2,
Bone marrow zinc finger 2; CBP, CREB binding factor; HCMV, Human cytomegalovirus.

THE PRESENT INVESTIGATIONS

AIMS OF THIS THESIS

The aim of my work was to investigate the role of the transcription factor Wilms' tumor gene 1 (WT1) in normal hematopoiesis and leukemia. This task was addressed by:

• Overexpression of wild type WT1 and a zinc-finger deleted form of WT1 in human hematopoietic progenitor cells to study and compare effects on proliferation and differentiation

• Investigating the molecular mechanisms for WT1-mediated effects by searching for novel WT1 target genes and WT1 interacting proteins

EXPERIMENTAL CONSIDERATIONS

Retroviral transduction and overexpression

An efficient way of introducing a foreign gene into cells is retroviral transduction. In paper I-III, retroviral transduction of WT1 or a control vector (MIG) into leukemic cell lines and hematopoietic progenitor cells was used. The viral envelope used in these experiments was RD114 which interacts with a neutral amino acid transporter (RDR), highly expressed on hematopoietic progenitor cells and leukemic cell lines [142]. The virus contained a bicistronic vector containing cDNA encoding WT1 linked by an internal ribosomal entry site (IRES) to a cDNA encoding the enhanced green fluorescent protein (eGFP). The virus was preloaded on retronectin-coated plates to facilitate subsequent the receptor-mediated uptake into the cells. Since virus only relocates to the nucleus during mitosis, the cells have to be cycling to allow insertion of the gene into the genome. Therefore, the CD34⁺ cells were stimulated into cell cycling with stem cell factor (SCF), Flt3-ligand and thrombopoietin (TPO) during 48 hours prior to transduction. After 48 hours of transduction, the cells were subjected to sorting of the GFP⁺ cells. Thus, no geneticin-selection of transfected cells to establish clones stably expressing the gene was needed, excluding the possibility of selection of cells resistant to negative effects of WT1. The transduction efficiencies obtained were between 50-80% and comparable for MIG and WT1 transduced cells, indicating that similar CD34⁺ populations were transduced.

In colony forming assays, the expected cloning efficiency of about 15% was obtained in MIG-transduced cells, indicating that the transduction procedure in itself was not toxic to the cells.

Analysis by real time RT-PCR revealed a robust expression of WT1 as compared to MIGtransduced cells. However, the expression of WT1 was clearly increased as compared to the physiological levels in the leukemic cell lines HL60 or K562. This could be a potential experimental problem leading to non-physiological effects.

Oligonucleotide Array

Gene expression analysis was used in paper II and III, to screen for novel target genes of WT1. Single-stranded DNA complementary for a specific target sequence was spotted on a glass slide, referred to as an oligonucleotide array. In our case, about 18 000 genes were present on the array. Two-color array was used, which means that RNA from WT1-transduced cells and RNA from MIG-transduced cells were labeled with two different fluorophores and hybridized simultaneously to the array. The fluorescence of each fluorophore in the same spot was measured and compared to each other. Two biological replicates were analyzed and differences in gene expression evaluated. There is a number of factors e.g. array-to-array variability, statistical analysis of the array data, false negative and positive signals, which affect the results. Therefore, in our case the array was just used as a screening method to find potential target genes, up- or downregulated by WT1, which was further validated by additional methods such as real time RT-PCR.

Human hematopoietic colony-forming cell assay

Human hematopoietic colony-forming cell assays are developed to evaluate the proliferation and differentiation of hematopoietic progenitor cells in vitro. In the CFU-GM/BFU-E assay, cells are cultured in a semi-solid matrix (methylcellulose) supplemented with nutrients and cytokines allowing the formation of colonies of the erythrocyte, monocyte-macrophage, and granulocyte lineages. The colonies were evaluated approximately after 14 days depending on morphological criterias. Erythroid colonies included BFU-E and CFU-E, clearly identified as hemoglobinized cells and colony morphology, while myeloid colonies included CFU-GM, CFU-M and CFU-G. In paper I, CD34⁺ cells were retrovirally transduced for 48 hours and seeded into methylcellulose after sorting of the GFP⁺ cells. In paper II, CD34⁺ was transfected by electroporation and seeded into methylcellulose after 24 hours. The clonogenicity for the control cells was in paper I about 15% and in paper II about 3%, indicating that the two methods transduced different cell populations. Thus, more progenitor cells were transduced retrovirally as compared to transfection by electroporation, resulting in a higher number of colonies.

Real time RT-PCR

To analyze gene expression, real time RT-PCR was performed in paper I-III. Real time RT-PCR is a very sensitive method where small amounts of mRNA can be quantified. This method is based on the detection and quantification of a dye-labeled probe (TaqMan probe). RNA was extracted and converted into complementary DNA (cDNA) during reverse transcription (RT). The TaqMan probe and primers are designed to hybridize specifically to a complementary sequence. If the probe anneals to its target sequence, which is amplified during PCR, the reporter dye starts to emit fluorescence, which increases in each cycle. Unlike conventional PCR methods detecting the final amount of amplified product, the PCR product is quantified after each round of amplification based on the amount of fluorescence produced. The amplification can be followed in real time during the exponential phase allowing accurate quantification of gene expression in the starting material. An internal control is used to exclude that the differences in mRNA expression is solely a result of unequal loading and the target amount is normalized to the internal control in each reaction. A gene that is to be used as an internal control should not change significantly in expression during different experimental conditions.

Luciferase assay

To investigate the transcriptional effects of WT1 on the NDRG2 and IRF-8 promoters, a dualluciferase reporter system was used in paper II and III. The promoter sequences were cloned into the pGL3Basic reporter vector upstream of the firefly luciferase gene. Adherent cells were transiently transfected with the expression plasmid, the firefly reporter and a vector expressing renilla luciferase. The firefly luciferase activity was measured by adding substrate, which resulted in a luminescence signal, after which the reaction was quenched, and a substrate for the renilla luciferase was added. The renilla vector was used as a transfection efficiency control, and the firefly luciferase values were normalized to those of the renilla luciferase.

However, a number of factors have to be considered when evaluating results from luciferase assays: both expression- and reporter-plasmids are overexpressed, critical transcription factors may be present in limited quantities, the vectors are not integrated into the genome and are

therefore not in the correct chromosomal environment. Thus, it is also important to investigate the regulation of the endogenous gene expression by other methods such as real time RT-PCR.

Bacteriomatch II Two-Hybrid assay

The Bacteriomatch II Two-Hybrid assay was used in paper IV to identify proteins interacting with the N-terminal part of WT1. The N-terminal part of WT1 was cloned into a bait vector and interactions with proteins expressed from target vectors were investigated. In our case, a cDNA library from K562 cells was used. One limitation with this system is how the cDNA library is constructed. First-strand cDNA synthesis begins with a poly(dT) primer that binds to the poly(A) tail in the 3' end of the mRNA and the reverse transcription is initiated. After second-strand synthesis, the product is ligated into the target vector. In this manner, the cDNA is sometimes ligated out of reading frame and proteins not naturally occurring are translated. One might also consider that this is a bacterial and not a mammalian system. Therefore, interactions between nuclear proteins might escape detection, since the proteins are not in their proper milieu and important cofactors might be missing.

Coimmunoprecipitation (Co-IP) and Glutathione S-Transferase (GST) pull down assay

Co-IP and GST-pull down assay are two methods for investigating protein-protein interactions. These methods were used in paper IV. In Co-IP, interacting proteins are immunoprecipitated with an antibody recognizing one of the proteins, and thereafter detected by an antibody directed against the other protein in Western Blotting. Usually two plasmids expressing the proteins of interest are transiently transfected to adherent cells and Co-IP is then performed. However, in this way, protein levels are very high, possibly resulting in interactions not seen at more physiological protein levels. Mixing of the nuclear and cytosolic fractions may also result in not naturally occurring interactions. In a GST-pull down assay, the protein of interest is GST-tagged and bound to a matrix in a column. Nuclear extract or in vitro translated protein is applied to the column to allow complex formation. Protein complexes are eluted and analyzed by Western Blotting technique. If one or both proteins bind non-specifically to the sepharose in Co-IP or the GST-matrix in the column, false positive results will be obtained. Postitive and negative controls are therefore of great importance in these types of studies.

RESULTS AND GENERAL DISCUSSION

How does WT1 affect proliferation and differentiation of hematopoietic progenitor cells?

During the past 15 years a large amount of effort has been made to identify the functional role of WT1 in hematopoiesis. Although murine WT1 knockout models have told us a lot about the importance of WT1 in the development of kidneys and gonads, the functions of WT1 in hematopoiesis is still poorly understood. Moreover, as discussed below, some data indicate that conclusions from mouse models may not always be completely relevant for the human situation.

WT1 is expressed in murine embryonic hematopoietic tissues, adult BM and blood, indicating a possible role of WT1 in murine hematopoiesis [19]. There are no obvious hematological defects in heterozygous WT1-knockout mice and homozygous WT-null mice die early in utero, excluding analysis of adult hematopoiesis [3]. In some mouse models, where WT1 deficient cells are transplanted to irradiated mice, WT1 is not critical for hematopoiesis [25]. However, in other mouse models where WT1-null fetal liver cells were transplanted, WT1null cells could not reconstitute hematopoiesis in competition with its normal counterparts, suggesting functional defects in growth potential of WT1-null cells [24]. Interestingly, similar phenotypes with competition defects are seen in hematopoietic cells deficient of cell-signaling molecules or their receptors e.g. Pbx-1, c-mpl and flk2/flt3 [143-145], suggesting an involvement of WT1 in hematopoietic signaling pathways important for proliferation and/or survival. WT1 overexpression in bone marrow in transgenic mice also resulted in an expansion of the hematopoietic progenitor pool, further strengthening a role of WT1 in proliferation and expansion of immature blood cells [58].

A role for WT1 in human hematopoietic cells was suggested based on the initial observations that WT1 is expressed in CD34⁺ hematopoietic progenitor cells, but not in CD34⁻ BM cells or in peripheral blood mononuclear cells [18-20]. Upon differentiation, WT1 expression in CD34⁺ cells is rapidly downregulated [146]. To study the function of WT1 during normal hematopoiesis, CD34⁺ human hematopoietic progenitor cells were retrovirally transduced with WT1 and cultured in methylcellulose and liquid cultures to study effects on proliferation and differentiation (Paper I, [23,64]). The effects of WT1 were dual; WT1 induced quiescence of early progenitor cells and myelo-monocytic differentiation in more mature hematopoietic progenitor cells. These effects were associated with an upregulation of p21 and induced

growth arrest. P21 is suggested to be a direct WT1 target gene [66] and is a key molecule in cell cycle regulation. In hematopoiesis, the expression of p21 is suggested to be important for quiescence and self-renewal capacity of hematopoietic stem cells (HCS); in p21-null mice, the number of HCS in quiescence was reduced and serial transplantations of these cells resulted in earlier exhaustion of the HCS population compared to their normal counterparts [147]. Therefore, upregulation of p21 could provide a mechanistic explanation for the WT1-mediated effects. However, in CD34⁺ progenitors, p21 could not alone induce differentiation, suggesting that WT1 activates additional genes or interacts with proteins to mediate differentiation. If WT1 is indeed able to physiologically induce quiescence via p21 or other mechanisms, this raises the possibility that WT1 could be an important factor for the maintenance of the leukemic stem cell pool. However, others and we have not been able to confirm an upregulation of p21 by WT1, questioning p21 as a direct target gene (Paper I, [113]).

Results from human and mouse models of WT1 function do not seem to be completely compatible with each other. In human progenitor cells, WT1 induces quiescence while WT1 seems to be important for sustained or even enhanced proliferation in mouse models. One explanation might be that different cell populations are studied. In the mouse models it is the function of hematopoietic stem/progenitor cells that are studied, while more mature progenitor cells are studied in the human models. It might be that the effects are different depending on the maturation state of the cell.

The role of WT1 in leukemia

There is an ongoing debate whether WT1 is functioning as a tumor suppressor gene or oncogene in leukemia. Based on the observations that WT1 is highly expressed in almost all acute leukemias and that growth of WT1-expressing leukemic cells was suppressed by WT1 antisense oligomers, WT1 was initially suggested to be an oncogene. Several groups have also shown that WT1 interferes with differentiation of leukemic cell lines, supporting the idea of WT1 as an oncogene in leukemia [51-55].

However, the recent reports where WT1 was retrovirally transduced to CD34⁺ cells, which induced quiescence and differentiation in hematopoietic cells argues against an oncogenic role of WT1 (Paper I, [23,64]). A tumor suppressor function, rather than oncogenic effects, is also in consistence with the obvious suppressor function of WT1 in Wilms' tumor. If WT1 is acting as a tumor suppressor also in leukemia, one might speculate that WT1 mutations confer

loss of function and thus are involved in leukemogenesis and that the leukemic cells expressing wild type WT1 have rendered other mutations making them resistant to the action of WT1. In both sporadic Wilms' tumor and leukemia the incidence of WT1 mutations is about 10-15% [67-69,148]. In Wilms' tumor, most WT1 mutations follow the pattern of the classical Knudson 2-hit hypothesis for tumor-suppressor gene function, meaning that it is homozygously inactivated or deleted, leading to development of the tumors. In leukemia, however, WT1 mutations are most often heterozygous with one remaining wild-type allele. However, it is possible that the mutated WT1 protein could exert dominant negative effects on the remaining wild type protein leading to "homozygous" inactivation of WT1.

However, one could speculate on a number of alternative ways that mutated WT1 may contribute to leukemogenesis. Besides exerting a dominant negative effect on remaining wild type WT1, mutant WT1 could sequester cofactors essential for WT1 function, acquire quite novel oncogenic properties unrelated to the function of wild type WT1 or exert the same functions as wild type WT1 (Figure 5).



Figure 5. Possible effects of mutant WT1 protein

In paper I, we were interested in investigating the effects of a zinc-finger deleted WT1, WT1(delZ), representing a WT1 mutant protein without DNA-binding ability, during human hematopoiesis in vitro. We used a highly effective retroviral system to transduce CD34⁺ cells from cord blood with either wild type protein WT1(+/-) or zinc-finger deleted WT1(delZ). The transduced cells were seeded into methylcellulose to study the effects of WT1 on clonogenic capacity of progenitor cells and also grown in uni-lineage suspension cultures with growth factors supporting granulocytic or erythroid differentiation, to investigate the effects on proliferation, viability and differentiation. WT1(+/-), but not WT1(delZ), inhibited erythroid colony formation as well as erythroid differentiation in suspension cultures. However, our finding that both WT1(+/-) and WT1(delZ) were able to inhibit myeloid colony formation and to stimulate myeloid differentiation of cells grown in suspension culture was a surprising finding. These results suggest that cellular effects of WT1 are mediated by distinct molecular mechanisms; the effects on myeloid progenitors are independent of DNA-binding, suggesting protein-protein interaction with the N-terminal domain of WT1, while the erythroid effects were dependent of WT1 as a DNA-binding transcriptional regulator.

Patients with the Denys-Drash syndrome (DDS) have heterozygous germline WT1 point mutations in the zinc-finger region, disrupting the DNA-binding ability of WT1 [149]. These mutations results in genitourinary defects and predisposes to Wilms' tumor. If WT1 mutations confer an increased risk for developing leukemia one might think that patients with DDS would develop leukemia at higher frequency than normal. Although the incidence of DDS is low, making a modest increase in the risk of developing leukemia difficult to detect, DDS patients do not seem to have hematological defects or to develop leukemia, which would argue against a strong leukomogenic effect of DDS-associated mutations.

WT1 binding proteins

Several proteins interacting with WT1 have been identified (Table II). Even though most reported partners of WT1 interact with the zinc-fingers, there are a few proteins interacting via the N-terminal of WT1, including WT1 itself. The first 182 amino acids of WT1 contain a oligomerization domain. Although high levels of ectopic expression are required to demonstrate self-association *in vivo*, this is a potential mechanism for naturally occurring WT1 mutants. For instance, WT1 mutations that impair the DNA-binding domain but leave the self-association domain intact, may act in a dominant negative manner to inhibit the functions of wild type WT1. It is tempting to speculate that a dominant negative effect of

WT1(delZ) explains the increased number of erythroid colonies from WT1(delZ)-transduced cells (Paper I).

As also shown in paper I, the zinc-finger deleted WT1(delZ) mediated the same effects as WT1 on myeloid progenitor cells, indicating that WT1(delZ) by interaction with some WT1interacting proteins can exert functions in myeloid cells. Therefore, we tried in paper IV, by use of a bacterial II hybrid assay, to identify proteins interacting with the N-terminal part of WT1. Cofilin 1 was one WT1(delZ)-interacting protein that was found. Cofilin 1 is reported to be involved in apoptosis [150]. Upon apoptosis induction, cofilin 1 is translocated from the cytoplasm to the mitochondria, where it can enhance the release of cytochrome C. Since WT1(delZ) accumulate in the cytoplasm (Paper I), we hypothesized that an interaction between WT1 and cofilin 1 would inhibit the apoptosis-inducing effect of cofilin 1. This could contribute to the leukemogenic process by rendering the cells more resistant to apoptosis. However, although WT1(delZ) and cofilin 1 did bind each other, no functional effects of this interaction were detected during apoptosis induced by etoposide (our unpublished data). These results are consistent with the finding that the antiapoptotic effect of WT1 in etoposide-induced K562 cells was dependent of the zinc-fingers [98]. Furthermore, cofilin 1 did not significantly interfere with transcriptional regulation of two known WT1 target genes (Paper IV), arguing against a WT1-modulating function by cofilin 1.

Target genes in leukemia and hematopoiesis

Several potential WT1 target genes have been identified (Table I). A number of them are involved in the development of the genitourinary system, whereas some are involved in more general mechanisms such as proliferation and apoptosis. A few of them could possibly be involved in the WT1-mediated effects in CD34⁺ and leukemic cells.

Some target genes fit nicely into the model of WT1 as a tumor suppressor. The ability of WT1 to induce cellular quiescence in early progenitor cells and promote differentiation of later progenitors could be explained by the ability of WT1 to induce expression of p21 and reduce expression of Cyclin E, two proteins involved in regulation of G1 arrest [113] and to upregulate the Vitamin D receptor [123,124]. Binding of Vitamin D to its receptor has been shown to induce differentiation of leukemic cell lines. However, WT1 is also involved in upregulation of c-myc, which promote proliferation, and the antiapoptotic Bcl-2 gene, which supports the idea of WT1 as a protein with oncogenic functions [59,60].

Thus, transcriptional effects of WT1 are indeed complex and the WT1-regulation of target genes seems to be cell type specific. Therefore, in an attempt to identify novel WT1 target

genes in CD34⁺ cells, a gene expression array was performed (Paper II and III). Out of several potential WT1 target genes, two were selected for further characterization. N-myc downstream regulated gene 2 (NDRG2) was shown to be upregulated by WT1 according to the array and real time RT-PCR analysis (Paper II). NDRG2 is expressed weakly in CD34⁺ progenitor cells but not in peripheral blood pointing to a possible coexpression of WT1 and NDRG2 (Paper II, [152]). However, we could not prove NDRG2 to be a direct target gene of WT1 since WT1 was not able to activate transcription of NDRG2 in promoter studies. Thus, although expression of WT1 clearly resulted in increased endogenous NDRG2 gene expression in vivo, the mechanism is indirect, or exerted by more distant regulatory elements in the NDRG2 gene, not present in the promoter investigated. In our experiments, we could not demonstrate that NDRG2 is responsibe for mediating the WT1 effects seen in CD34⁺ cells. NDRG2 affected neither the colony forming ability in methylcellulose nor the differentiation of CD34⁺ cells in suspension cultures. The second potential WT1 target gene identified was interferon regulatory factor 8 (IRF-8), which was negatively regulated by WT1 (Paper III).

Is WT1 a link between BCR/ABL1 and IRF-8 in CML?

In paper III, WT1 is suggested to contribute to leukemogenesis in BCR/ABL1-positive CML cells by downregulating interferon regulatory factor 8 (IRF-8). The BCR/ABL1 protein functions as a tyrosine kinase, that constitutively activate the JAK/STAT, Ras/Raf/MEK/ERK and PI3K/Akt signal transduction pathways to regulate cell proliferation and survival [13,14]. BCR/ABL1 has also been shown to positively regulate WT1 gene expression: WT1 expression was reduced in CML cells treated with the tyrosine kinase inhibitor imatinib mesylate [153]. Both BCR/ABL1 and WT1 proteins are expressed in the majority of CMLpatients in blast crisis [14,153]. BCR/ABL1 mediated activation of the JAK/STAT or Ras/Raf/MEK/ERK signaling pathways did not seem to influence WT1 mRNA levels. However, we found that WT1 mRNA levels was reduced during imatinib as well as during PI3K and Akt inhibitor treatment, suggesting that the BCR/ABL1 effect on WT1 is mediated via the PI3K/Akt signaling pathway. This finding is supported by Tuna et al, who reported that the tyrosine kinase receptor HER2/neu regulated WT1 expression via Akt in breast cancer cell lines [154]. One could speculate that the activation of WT1 expression is regulated by different kinds of tyrosine kinase and tyrosine kinase receptors. This might be a common mechanism in cancer cells that could contribute to the malignant phenotype. WT1 is indeed expressed in a number of nonhematopoietic malignancies [155-157].

How is then the WT1 mRNA levels influenced by BCR/ABL1 and PI3K/Akt? Increased mRNA levels could be a result of transcriptional activation of the WT1 gene, or of increased mRNA stability. Our results clearly indicate that WT1 mRNA stability is not increased by BCR/ABL1, since inhibition of the PI3K signaling pathway did not decrease the half-life of WT1 mRNA. A WT1 promoter construct, also containing two hematopoietic specific enhancer regions, was active in K562 cells. The promoter activity was strongly decreased after addition of the PI3K inhibitor, suggesting that the expression of WT1 mRNA is regulated at the transcriptional level via the PI3K signaling pathway. The WT1 promoter alone was only weakly active, indicating that the two enhancer regions are important for the transcriptional activity. Both enhancer regions contain GATA-1 sites. Interestingly, it was recently suggested that erythropoietin phosphorylates and thereby activates GATA-1 via the PI3K signaling pathway [158]. We therefore hypothezise that the mechanism for increased WT1 expression in CML is PI3K-mediated phosphorylation and activation of GATA-1. Further, it is tempting to speculate that activated GATA-1 can contribute to neutrophil differentiation disturbances (Figure 6).

We also found that the gene expression of interferon regulatory factor 8 (IRF-8) was reduced by WT1. WT1 repressed the IRF-8 promoter activity as well, pointing to a direct WT1mediated effect on the proximal promoter. Interestingly, several findings indicate an important function of IRF-8 in the pathogenesis of CML [11]. Downregulation of IRF-8 was shown in CML cell lines as well as in cells from patients with CML. Furthermore, homozygous, but also heterozygous, deletion of IRF-8 in transgenic mice results in a CMLlike disease, suggesting a haploinsufficiency. This might imply that also a modest reduction in IRF-8 levels could result in deregulation of signaling pathways controlled by IRF-8. Moreover, forced expression of IRF-8 was shown to counteract BCR/ABL1-induced leukemia in mice, pointing to a potential role of IRF-8 as a tumor suppressor. The tumor suppressor function of IRF-8 may, at least in part, be explained by the ability of IRF-8 to upregulate the tumor suppressor p15^{Ink4b} and downregulate the antiapoptotic protein Bcl-2 and c-myc [159-161].



Figure 6. Hypothetical schematic picture of BCR/ABL1-WT1-IRF8-axis in CML

These observations combined with our findings led us to propose that WT1 may be a connection between BCR/ABL1 and IRF-8. It is therefore possible that the WT1-mediated downregulation of IRF-8 contributes to the leukemogenic effect of BCR/ABL1 in CML cells.

WT1 – friend or foe in leukemia?

Taken all available information into account, it is difficult to form a clear picture about the function of WT1 in hematopoiesis and in leukemia. As was shown by several groups, WT1 induces quiescence in human CD34⁺ progenitor cells, which might be a potential mechanism for extended survival of these cells. For the leukemic stem cells this could be an advantage, since high WT1 expression could contribute to the maintenance of the leukemic stem cells pool. One might also speculate that the high expression of WT1 and enhanced survival could provide a favorable milieu for these cells, even though WT1 might not be oncogenic in itself. The proliferation and survival drive exerted by WT1 might allow cells to be more resistant to the toxic effect of common leukemia-associated fusionproteins such as AML1/ETO or

BCR/ABL1, thus allowing transformation. Indeed, it was recently shown that WT1 and AML1/ETO together induced leukemia.

As discussed above, in recent years the knowledge on the functional role of WT1 has increased. The results in this thesis have contributed to new insights about possible physiological and pathophysiological roles. Novel molecular mechanisms upstream and downstream of WT1 have been identified and phenotypic consequences have been characterized. However, it is becoming increasingly apparent that the cellular context and cooperating factors have dramatic effects on WT1. Thus, although several achievements, the complexity regarding this enigmatic protein has not decreased.

SAMMANFATTNING PÅ SVENSKA

Hematopoes är den process under vilken alla röda och vita blodceller i kroppen bildas. Denna process sker kontinuerligt i benmärgen och förser kroppen med blodceller under hela livet. I benmärgen finns en viss typ av omogna celler sk stamceller som alla olika typer av blodceller bildas ifrån. Genom att stamceller gradvis mognar så bildas mogna blodceller som transporteras ut i blodet för att utföra sina sysslor. Mogna blodceller har mycket specialiserade funktioner. De röda blodcellerna transporterar syre. De vita blodcellerna är viktiga för kroppens immunförsvar. Trombocyterna är livsviktiga för blodets förmåga att koagulera. För att det alltid ska finnas tillräckligt många blodceller i blodet så är utmognadsprocessen mycket väl reglerad. Den styrs främst av proteiner som kallas transkriptionsfaktorer. Transkriptionsfaktorerna reglerar vilka gener som skall aktiveras för att en viss typ av cell ska mogna ut.

Vid akut leukemi kan de hematopoetiska stamcellerna i benmärgen ej mogna ut på normalt sätt utan befinner sig i en så kallad utmognadssblockad. Detta leder till att man får en ansamling av omogna blodceller i benmärgen som trycker ner den normala blodbildningen. Till följd av denna brist på normala blodceller får man bla blodbrist och ett försvagat immunsystem. Det uppkomna tillståndet, akut leukemi, måste behandlas för att man inte ska dö.

Mognadsblockaden är ofta en följd av förändringar i transkriptionsfaktorernas funktion. En transkriptionsfaktor som tros ha betydelse vid utveckling av leukemi är Wilms' tumör gen 1 (WT1). I den normala hematopoesen uttrycks WT1 i tidiga stamceller men nedregleras i samband med utmognad av celler. Detta skulle kunna betyda att WT1 måste nedregleras för att utmognad av celler ska kunna ske. I nästan alla leukemier är WT1 mycket högt uttryckt, vilket skulle kunna förhindra utmognad. Man har även sett ett samband mellan höga WT1 nivåer och sämre prognos. Dessutom är WT1 muterat i 15% av fallen. Detta skulle kunna innebära att ett felaktigt protein bildas vilket kan bidra till utmognadsblockaden genom att proteinet får nya felaktiga funktioner eller bara inte kan göra samma uppgifter som det vanliga WT1.

Trots mycket forskning om WT1s funktion i leukemiutveckling, så vet man fortfarande väldigt lite. Detta beror bla på att man har fått fram delvis olika resultat i de olika undersökningarna. I vissa försök har WT1 hindrat utmognad av celler men i andra fall inte. Jag har arbetat med att försöka klarlägga vilken funktion WT1 har vid normal blodbildning

och leukemi, vilket i framtiden förhoppningsvis skulle kunna leda fram till nya terapistrategier vid behandling av leukemi.

För att studera effekterna av WT1 och muterat WT1 protein i normal blodbildning så överuttrycktes dessa proteiner i stamceller. Det muterade WT1 protein som användes representerar en naturligt förekommande mutation som hittats i leukemipatienter. Denna mutation medför att WT1 proteinet saknar den del som kan bilda till DNA och på detta sätt aktivera andra gener. I dessa försök visade det sig att både WT1 och det muterade WT1, kunde minska tillväxten och stimulera utmognaden av de vita blodcellerna. Eftersom det muterade WT1 ej kan binda till DNA och aktivera gener, så tyder detta på att WT1 och muterat WT1 kan binda till andra proteiner som ger dessa effekter. De röda blodcellernas tillväxt minskades dock bara av WT1 och ej av muterat WT1 dvs dessa effekter verkar vara beroende av att WT1 kan binda till DNA för att aktivera vissa gener. Eftersom WT1s effekter verkar vara beroende av att dels kunna aktivera gener som WT1 reglerar samt leta efter proteiner som WT1 binder till. Jag hittade dels ett nytt protein, cofilin 1, som WT1. Jag har dock inte kunnat fastställa betydelsen av dessa fynd.

WT1 visade sig även minska genuttrycket av interferon regulatory factor 8 (IRF-8). Andra undersökningar har visat att om IRF-8 inte uttryckts i musstamceller, så utvecklar dessa möss kronisk myeloid leukemi (KML). BCR/ABL1 är ett annat protein som har visat sig vara betydelsefullt för utvecklingen av KML. Både tidigare och egna resultat visar att BCR/ABL1 även kan reglera WT1-uttrycket så att detta är högt i leukemicellerna. Dessa fynd tyckte jag var mycket intressanta och jag tror att det finns ett samband mellan dessa proteiner. Det skulle kunna vara så att BCR/ABL1 gör så att ett högt WT1 uttryck finns i leukemicellerna och WT1 trycker i sin tur ner uttrycket av IRF-8. Jag tror att detta samband bidrar till utvecklandet av leukemi och hoppas att dessa fynd i framtiden kan bidra till utveckling av nya behandlingsstrategier för leukemi.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Jag skulle vilja tacka alla som bidragit till denna avhandling på ett eller annat sätt.

STORT TACK...

Urban Gullberg, min handledare, för din stora kunskap som du så generöst har delat med dig av, ditt engagemang och inte minst din goda humor.

Karina Vidovic, för ett givande och mycket roligt samarbete (trots alla optimeringar...), din smittande optimism samt all ovärdelig hjälp de senaste veckorna.

Malin Ageberg, för alla diskussioner – både de vetenskapliga och de icke vetenskapliga. Det var toppen att dela rum med dig.

Susanna Obad, för din hjälpsamhet, ditt trevliga sällskap och för alla gånger jag fick skjuts till Malmö.

Andreas Lennartsson, för kloka inlägg och joggingsällskapet i Skrylle.

Katrien Pieters, för att du alltid höll förrådet väl påfyllt och din belgiska humor.

André Olsson och Linda Källquist, för all datorexpertis och roligt sällskap på labbet.

Hanna Rosén och Louise Edvardsson, för att ni disputerade precis innan mig...Toppen med alla goda råd!

Helena Eriksson, för handledningen och det trevliga samarbetet när jag började på avdelningen.

Tor Olofsson, för alla sorteringar och FACS-analyser.

Alla tidigare och nuvarande arbetskamrater, för alla trevliga fikapauser, luncher, utflykter, retreater, möten och för att ni alltid är så hjälpsamma och delar med er av värdefulla labberfarenheter.

Johan Richter, avdelningen för genterapi, för goda råd och synpunkter, samt experthjälp under första delen av min doktorandperiod.

Petra Håkansson, Carin Lassen, Thoas Fioretos, avdelningen för klinisk genetik, för ett gott samarbete.

Johan Vallon-Christersson, avdelningen för onkologi, för genarray-analysen.

Stina Oredsson, avdelningen för cell- och organismbiologi, för hjälpen inför apoptosförsöken.

STORT TACK ...

Alla fantastiska vänner som gör mitt liv så mycket roligare!

Gullan, Challe, Skogsrået, Cleopatra, Pippi, Cindy Lauper och kejsaren utan kläder, för ni är bäst!

Kristina, för att du hjälpte mig med omslaget.

Min släkt, mina föräldrar Lena och Tonny, samt min favoritsyster Lotta, för allt stöd och all kärlek. Jag är så glad över att ni finns.

REFERENCES

1. Haber DA, Buckler AJ, Glaser T, Call KM, Pelletier J, Sohn RL, Douglass EC, Housman DE (1990) An internal deletion within an 11p13 zinc finger gene contributes to the development of Wilms' tumor. Cell 61:1257

2. Rackley RR, Flenniken AM, Kuriyan NP, Kessler PM, Stoler MH, Williams BR (1993) Expression of the Wilms' tumor suppressor gene WT1 during mouse embryogenesis. Cell Growth Differ 4:1023

3. Kreidberg JA, Sariola H, Loring JM, Maeda M, Pelletier J, Housman D, Jaenisch R (1993) WT-1 is required for early kidney development. Cell 74:679

4. Wagner KD, Wagner N, Vidal VP, Schley G, Wilhelm D, Schedl A, Englert C, Scholz H (2002) The Wilms' tumor gene Wt1 is required for normal development of the retina. Embo J 21:1398

5. Wagner N, Wagner KD, Hammes A, Kirschner KM, Vidal VP, Schedl A, Scholz H (2005) A splice variant of the Wilms' tumour suppressor Wt1 is required for normal development of the olfactory system. Development 132:1327

6. Rao MK, Pham J, Imam JS, MacLean JA, Murali D, Furuta Y, Sinha-Hikim AP, Wilkinson MF (2006) Tissue-specific RNAi reveals that WT1 expression in nurse cells controls germ cell survival and spermatogenesis. Genes Dev 20:147

7. Cantor AB, Orkin SH (2001) Hematopoietic development: a balancing act. Curr Opin Genet Dev 11:513

8. Tenen DG (2003) Disruption of differentiation in human cancer: AML shows the way. Nat Rev Cancer 3:89

9. Weissman IL (2000) Stem cells: units of development, units of regeneration, and units in evolution. Cell 100:157

10. Rosmarin AG, Yang Z, Resendes KK (2005) Transcriptional regulation in myelopoiesis: Hematopoietic fate choice, myeloid differentiation, and leukemogenesis. Exp Hematol 33:131

11. Tamura T, Ozato K (2002) ICSBP/IRF-8: its regulatory roles in the development of myeloid cells. J Interferon Cytokine Res 22:145

12. Huntly BJ, Gilliland DG (2005) Leukaemia stem cells and the evolution of cancer-stem-cell research. Nat Rev Cancer 5:311

13. Ren R (2005) Mechanisms of BCR-ABL in the pathogenesis of chronic myelogenous leukaemia. Nat Rev Cancer 5:172

14. Faderl S, Talpaz M, Estrov Z, O'Brien S, Kurzrock R, Kantarjian HM (1999) The biology of chronic myeloid leukemia. N Engl J Med 341:164

15. Deininger MW, Goldman JM, Melo JV (2000) The molecular biology of chronic myeloid leukemia. Blood 96:3343

Sattler M, Salgia R (1997) Activation of hematopoietic growth factor signal transduction pathways by the human oncogene BCR/ABL. Cytokine Growth Factor Rev 8:63
Stokoe D (2005) The phosphoinositide 3-kinase pathway and cancer. Expert

Rev Mol Med 7:1

18. Baird PN, Simmons PJ (1997) Expression of the Wilms' tumor gene (WT1) in normal hemopoiesis. Exp Hematol 25:312

19. Fraizer GC, Patmasiriwat P, Zhang X, Saunders GF (1995) Expression of the tumor suppressor gene WT1 in both human and mouse bone marrow. Blood 86:4704

20. Inoue K, Ogawa H, Sonoda Y, Kimura T, Sakabe H, Oka Y, Miyake S, Tamaki H, Oji Y, Yamagami T, Tatekawa T, Soma T, Kishimoto T, Sugiyama H (1997) Aberrant overexpression of the Wilms tumor gene (WT1) in human leukemia. Blood 89:1405

21. Hosen N, Sonoda Y, Oji Y, Kimura T, Minamiguchi H, Tamaki H, Kawakami M, Asada M, Kanato K, Motomura M, Murakami M, Fujioka T, Masuda T, Kim EH, Tsuboi A, Oka Y, Soma T, Ogawa H, Sugiyama H (2002) Very low frequencies of human normal CD34+ haematopoietic progenitor cells express the Wilms' tumour gene WT1 at levels similar to those in leukaemia cells. Br J Haematol 116:409

22. Maurer U, Brieger J, Weidmann E, Mitrou PS, Hoelzer D, Bergmann L (1997) The Wilms' tumor gene is expressed in a subset of CD34+ progenitors and downregulated early in the course of differentiation in vitro. Exp Hematol 25:945

23. Ellisen LW, Carlesso N, Cheng T, Scadden DT, Haber DA (2001) The Wilms tumor suppressor WT1 directs stage-specific quiescence and differentiation of human hematopoietic progenitor cells. Embo J 20:1897

24. Alberta JA, Springett GM, Rayburn H, Natoli TA, Loring J, Kreidberg JA, Housman D (2003) Role of the WT1 tumor suppressor in murine hematopoiesis. Blood 101:2570

25. King-Underwood L, Little S, Baker M, Clutterbuck R, Delassus S, Enver T, Lebozer C, Min T, Moore A, Schedl A, Pritchard-Jones K (2005) Wt1 is not essential for hematopoiesis in the mouse. Leuk Res 29:803

26. Bergmann L, Maurer U, Weidmann E (1997) Wilms tumor gene expression in acute myeloid leukemias. Leuk Lymphoma 25:435

27. Cilloni D, Gottardi E, Messa F, Fava M, Scaravaglio P, Bertini M, Girotto M, Marinone C, Ferrero D, Gallamini A, Levis A, Saglio G (2003) Significant correlation between the degree of WT1 expression and the International Prognostic Scoring System Score in patients with myelodysplastic syndromes. J Clin Oncol 21:1988

28. Inoue K, Sugiyama H, Ogawa H, Nakagawa M, Yamagami T, Miwa H, Kita K, Hiraoka A, Masaoka T, Nasu K, et al. (1994) WT1 as a new prognostic factor and a new marker for the detection of minimal residual disease in acute leukemia. Blood 84:3071

29. Menssen HD, Renkl HJ, Rodeck U, Maurer J, Notter M, Schwartz S, Reinhardt R, Thiel E (1995) Presence of Wilms' tumor gene (wt1) transcripts and the WT1 nuclear protein in the majority of human acute leukemias. Leukemia 9:1060

30. Miwa H, Beran M, Saunders GF (1992) Expression of the Wilms' tumor gene (WT1) in human leukemias. Leukemia 6:405

31. Schmid D, Heinze G, Linnerth B, Tisljar K, Kusec R, Geissler K, Sillaber C, Laczika K, Mitterbauer M, Zochbauer S, Mannhalter C, Haas OA, Lechner K, Jager U, Gaiger A (1997) Prognostic significance of WT1 gene expression at diagnosis in adult de novo acute myeloid leukemia. Leukemia 11:639

32. Phelan SA, Lindberg C, Call KM (1994) Wilms' tumor gene, WT1, mRNA is down-regulated during induction of erythroid and megakaryocytic differentiation of K562 cells. Cell Growth Differ 5:677

33. Sekiya M, Adachi M, Hinoda Y, Imai K, Yachi A (1994) Downregulation of Wilms' tumor gene (wt1) during myelomonocytic differentiation in HL60 cells. Blood 83:1876

34. Kreuzer KA, Saborowski A, Lupberger J, Appelt C, Na IK, le Coutre P, Schmidt CA (2001) Fluorescent 5'-exonuclease assay for the absolute quantification of Wilms' tumour gene (WT1) mRNA: implications for monitoring human leukaemias. Br J Haematol 114:313

35. Siehl JM, Reinwald M, Heufelder K, Menssen HD, Keilholz U, Thiel E (2004) Expression of Wilms' tumor gene 1 at different stages of acute myeloid leukemia and analysis of its major splice variants. Ann Hematol 83:745

36. Bergmann L, Miething C, Maurer U, Brieger J, Karakas T, Weidmann E, Hoelzer D (1997) High levels of Wilms' tumor gene (wt1) mRNA in acute myeloid leukemias are associated with a worse long-term outcome. Blood 90:1217

37. Trka J, Kalinova M, Hrusak O, Zuna J, Krejci O, Madzo J, Sedlacek P, Vavra V, Michalova K, Jarosova M, Stary J (2002) Real-time quantitative PCR detection of WT1 gene expression in children with AML: prognostic significance, correlation with disease status and residual disease detection by flow cytometry. Leukemia 16:1381

38. Weisser M, Kern W, Rauhut S, Schoch C, Hiddemann W, Haferlach T, Schnittger S (2005) Prognostic impact of RT-PCR-based quantification of WT1 gene expression during MRD monitoring of acute myeloid leukemia. Leukemia 19:1416

39. Brieger J, Weidmann E, Maurer U, Hoelzer D, Mitrou PS, Bergmann L (1995) The Wilms' tumor gene is frequently expressed in acute myeloblastic leukemias and may provide a marker for residual blast cells detectable by PCR. Ann Oncol 6:811

40. Elmaagacli AH, Beelen DW, Trenschel R, Schaefer UW (2000) The detection of wt-1 transcripts is not associated with an increased leukemic relapse rate in patients with acute leukemia after allogeneic bone marrow or peripheral blood stem cell transplantation. Bone Marrow Transplant 25:91

41. Gaiger A, Schmid D, Heinze G, Linnerth B, Greinix H, Kalhs P, Tisljar K, Priglinger S, Laczika K, Mitterbauer M, Novak M, Mitterbauer G, Mannhalter C, Haas OA, Lechner K, Jager U (1998) Detection of the WT1 transcript by RT-PCR in complete remission has no prognostic relevance in de novo acute myeloid leukemia. Leukemia 12:1886

42. Inoue K, Ogawa H, Yamagami T, Soma T, Tani Y, Tatekawa T, Oji Y, Tamaki H, Kyo T, Dohy H, Hiraoka A, Masaoka T, Kishimoto T, Sugiyama H (1996) Long-term follow-up of minimal residual disease in leukemia patients by monitoring WT1 (Wilms tumor gene) expression levels. Blood 88:2267

43. Gaiger A, Reese V, Disis ML, Cheever MA (2000) Immunity to WT1 in the animal model and in patients with acute myeloid leukemia. Blood 96:1480

44. Oka Y, Elisseeva OA, Tsuboi A, Ogawa H, Tamaki H, Li H, Oji Y, Kim EH, Soma T, Asada M, Ueda K, Maruya E, Saji H, Kishimoto T, Udaka K, Sugiyama H (2000) Human cytotoxic T-lymphocyte responses specific for peptides of the wild-type Wilms' tumor gene (WT1) product. Immunogenetics 51:99

45. Oka Y, Udaka K, Tsuboi A, Elisseeva OA, Ogawa H, Aozasa K, Kishimoto T, Sugiyama H (2000) Cancer immunotherapy targeting Wilms' tumor gene WT1 product. J Immunol 164:1873

46. Tsuboi A, Oka Y, Ogawa H, Elisseeva OA, Li H, Kawasaki K, Aozasa K, Kishimoto T, Udaka K, Sugiyama H (2000) Cytotoxic T-lymphocyte responses elicited to Wilms' tumor gene WT1 product by DNA vaccination. J Clin Immunol 20:195

47. Gaiger A, Carter L, Greinix H, Carter D, McNeill PD, Houghton RL, Cornellison CD, Vedvick TS, Skeiky YA, Cheever MA (2001) WT1-specific serum antibodies in patients with leukemia. Clin Cancer Res 7:761s

48. Gao L, Bellantuono I, Elsasser A, Marley SB, Gordon MY, Goldman JM, Stauss HJ (2000) Selective elimination of leukemic CD34(+) progenitor cells by cytotoxic T lymphocytes specific for WT1. Blood 95:2198

49. Ohminami H, Yasukawa M, Fujita S (2000) HLA class I-restricted lysis of leukemia cells by a CD8(+) cytotoxic T-lymphocyte clone specific for WT1 peptide. Blood 95:286

50. Keilholz U, Menssen HD, Gaiger A, Menke A, Oji Y, Oka Y, Scheibenbogen C, Stauss H, Thiel E, Sugiyama H (2005) Wilms' tumour gene 1 (WT1) in human neoplasia. Leukemia 19:1318

51. Inoue K, Tamaki H, Ogawa H, Oka Y, Soma T, Tatekawa T, Oji Y, Tsuboi A, Kim EH, Kawakami M, Akiyama T, Kishimoto T, Sugiyama H (1998) Wilms' tumor gene (WT1) competes with differentiation-inducing signal in hematopoietic progenitor cells. Blood 91:2969

52. Tsuboi A, Oka Y, Ogawa H, Elisseeva OA, Tamaki H, Oji Y, Kim EH, Soma T, Tatekawa T, Kawakami M, Kishimoto T, Sugiyama H (1999) Constitutive expression of the Wilms' tumor gene WT1 inhibits the differentiation of myeloid progenitor cells but promotes their proliferation in response to granulocyte-colony stimulating factor (G-CSF). Leuk Res 23:499

53. Carrington D, Algar E (2000) Overexpression of murine WT1 + / + and - / - isoforms has no effect on chemoresistance but delays differentiation in the K562 leukemia cell line. Leuk Res 24:927

54. Deuel TF, Guan LS, Wang ZY (1999) Wilms' tumor gene product WT1 arrests macrophage differentiation of HL-60 cells through its zinc-finger domain. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 254:192

55. Svedberg H, Chylicki K, Baldetorp B, Rauscher FJ, 3rd, Gullberg U (1998) Constitutive expression of the Wilms' tumor gene (WT1) in the leukemic cell line U937 blocks parts of the differentiation program. Oncogene 16:925

56. Algar EM, Khromykh T, Smith SI, Blackburn DM, Bryson GJ, Smith PJ (1996) A WT1 antisense oligonucleotide inhibits proliferation and induces apoptosis in myeloid leukaemia cell lines. Oncogene 12:1005

57. Elmaagacli AH, Koldehoff M, Peceny R, Klein-Hitpass L, Ottinger H, Beelen DW, Opalka B (2005) WT1 and BCR-ABL specific small interfering RNA have additive effects in the induction of apoptosis in leukemic cells. Haematologica 90:326

58. Nishida S, Hosen N, Shirakata T, Kanato K, Yanagihara M, Nakatsuka SI, Hoshida Y, Nakazawa T, Harada Y, Tatsumi N, Tsuboi A, Kawakami M, Oka Y, Oji Y, Aozasa K, Kawase I, Sugiyama H (2005) AML1-ETO rapidly induces acute myeloblastic leukemia in cooperation with Wilms' tumor gene, WT1. Blood

59. Han Y, San-Marina S, Liu J, Minden MD (2004) Transcriptional activation of cmyc proto-oncogene by WT1 protein. Oncogene 23:6933

60. Mayo MW, Wang CY, Drouin SS, Madrid LV, Marshall AF, Reed JC, Weissman BE, Baldwin AS (1999) WT1 modulates apoptosis by transcriptionally upregulating the bcl-2 proto-oncogene. Embo J 18:3990

61. Smith SI, Weil D, Johnson GR, Boyd AW, Li CL (1998) Expression of the Wilms' tumor suppressor gene, WT1, is upregulated by leukemia inhibitory factor and induces monocytic differentiation in M1 leukemic cells. Blood 91:764

62. Murata Y, Kudoh T, Sugiyama H, Toyoshima K, Akiyama T (1997) The Wilms tumor suppressor gene WT1 induces G1 arrest and apoptosis in myeloblastic leukemia M1 cells. FEBS Lett 409:41

63. Loeb DM, Summers JL, Burwell EA, Korz D, Friedman AD, Sukumar S (2003) An isoform of the Wilms' tumor suppressor gene potentiates granulocytic differentiation. Leukemia 17:965

64. Svedberg H, Richter J, Gullberg U (2001) Forced expression of the Wilms tumor 1 (WT1) gene inhibits proliferation of human hematopoietic CD34(+) progenitor cells. Leukemia 15:1914

65. Svensson E, Eriksson H, Gekas C, Olofsson T, Richter J, Gullberg U (2005) DNA-binding dependent and independent functions of WT1 protein during human hematopoiesis. Exp Cell Res 308:211

66. Englert C, Maheswaran S, Garvin AJ, Kreidberg J, Haber DA (1997) Induction of p21 by the Wilms' tumor suppressor gene WT1. Cancer Res 57:1429

67. King-Underwood L, Pritchard-Jones K (1998) Wilms' tumor (WT1) gene mutations occur mainly in acute myeloid leukemia and may confer drug resistance. Blood 91:2961

68. King-Underwood L, Renshaw J, Pritchard-Jones K (1996) Mutations in the Wilms' tumor gene WT1 in leukemias. Blood 87:2171

69. Miyagawa K, Hayashi Y, Fukuda T, Mitani K, Hirai H, Kamiya K (1999) Mutations of the WT1 gene in childhood nonlymphoid hematological malignancies. Genes Chromosomes Cancer 25:176

70. Wagner KJ, Patek CE, Cunningham A, Taylor AH, Hooper ML, Ansell JD (2002) C-terminal truncation of WT1 delays but does not abolish hematopoiesis in embryoid bodies. Blood Cells Mol Dis 28:428

71. Call KM, Glaser T, Ito CY, Buckler AJ, Pelletier J, Haber DA, Rose EA, Kral A, Yeger H, Lewis WH, et al. (1990) Isolation and characterization of a zinc finger polypeptide gene at the human chromosome 11 Wilms' tumor locus. Cell 60:509

72. Gessler M, Poustka A, Cavenee W, Neve RL, Orkin SH, Bruns GA (1990) Homozygous deletion in Wilms tumours of a zinc-finger gene identified by chromosome jumping. Nature 343:774

73. Haber DA, Sohn RL, Buckler AJ, Pelletier J, Call KM, Housman DE (1991) Alternative splicing and genomic structure of the Wilms tumor gene WT1. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 88:9618

74. Natoli TA, McDonald A, Alberta JA, Taglienti ME, Housman DE, Kreidberg JA (2002) A mammal-specific exon of WT1 is not required for development or fertility. Mol Cell Biol 22:4433

75. Hammes A, Guo JK, Lutsch G, Leheste JR, Landrock D, Ziegler U, Gubler MC, Schedl A (2001) Two splice variants of the Wilms' tumor 1 gene have distinct functions during sex determination and nephron formation. Cell 106:319

76. Kent J, Coriat AM, Sharpe PT, Hastie ND, van Heyningen V (1995) The evolution of WT1 sequence and expression pattern in the vertebrates. Oncogene 11:1781

77. Renshaw J, King-Underwood L, Pritchard-Jones K (1997) Differential splicing of exon 5 of the Wilms tumour (WTI) gene. Genes Chromosomes Cancer 19:256

78. Morris JF, Madden SL, Tournay OE, Cook DM, Sukhatme VP, Rauscher FJ, 3rd (1991) Characterization of the zinc finger protein encoded by the WT1 Wilms' tumor locus. Oncogene 6:2339

79. Cohen HT, Bossone SA, Zhu G, McDonald GA, Sukhatme VP (1997) Sp1 is a critical regulator of the Wilms' tumor-1 gene. J Biol Chem 272:2901

80. Dehbi M, Ghahremani M, Lechner M, Dressler G, Pelletier J (1996) The pairedbox transcription factor, PAX2, positively modulates expression of the Wilms' tumor suppressor gene (WT1). Oncogene 13:447

81. Dehbi M, Pelletier J (1996) PAX8-mediated activation of the wt1 tumor suppressor gene. Embo J 15:4297

82. Fraizer GC, Shimamura R, Zhang X, Saunders GF (1997) PAX 8 regulates human WT1 transcription through a novel DNA binding site. J Biol Chem 272:30678

83. Fraizer GC, Wu YJ, Hewitt SM, Maity T, Ton CC, Huff V, Saunders GF (1994) Transcriptional regulation of the human Wilms' tumor gene (WT1). Cell type-specific enhancer and promiscuous promoter. J Biol Chem 269:8892

84. McConnell MJ, Cunliffe HE, Chua LJ, Ward TA, Eccles MR (1997) Differential regulation of the human Wilms tumour suppressor gene (WT1) promoter by two isoforms of PAX2. Oncogene 14:2689

85. Scholz H, Bossone SA, Cohen HT, Akella U, Strauss WM, Sukhatme VP (1997) A far upstream cis-element is required for Wilms' tumor-1 (WT1) gene expression in renal cell culture. J Biol Chem 272:32836

86. Fraizer GC, Wu YJ, Hewitt SM, Maity T, Ton CC, Huff V, Saunders GF (1994) Transcriptional regulation of the human Wilms' tumor gene (WT1). Cell type-specific enhancer and promiscuous promoter. J Biol Chem 269:8892

87. Zhang X, Xing G, Fraizer GC, Saunders GF (1997) Transactivation of an intronic hematopoietic-specific enhancer of the human Wilms' tumor 1 gene by GATA-1 and c-Myb. J Biol Chem 272:29272

88. Smolen GA, Vassileva MT, Wells J, Matunis MJ, Haber DA (2004) SUMO-1 modification of the Wilms' tumor suppressor WT1. Cancer Res 64:7846

89. Sakamoto Y, Yoshida M, Semba K, Hunter T (1997) Inhibition of the DNAbinding and transcriptional repression activity of the Wilms' tumor gene product, WT1, by cAMP-dependent protein kinase-mediated phosphorylation of Ser-365 and Ser-393 in the zinc finger domain. Oncogene 15:2001

90. Ye Y, Raychaudhuri B, Gurney A, Campbell CE, Williams BR (1996) Regulation of WT1 by phosphorylation: inhibition of DNA binding, alteration of transcriptional activity and cellular translocation. Embo J 15:5606

91. Caricasole A, Duarte A, Larsson SH, Hastie ND, Little M, Holmes G, Todorov I, Ward A (1996) RNA binding by the Wilms tumor suppressor zinc finger proteins. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 93:7562

92. Ladomery MR, Slight J, Mc Ghee S, Hastie ND (1999) Presence of WT1, the Wilm's tumor suppressor gene product, in nuclear poly(A)(+) ribonucleoprotein. J Biol Chem 274:36520

93. Larsson SH, Charlieu JP, Miyagawa K, Engelkamp D, Rassoulzadegan M, Ross A, Cuzin F, van Heyningen V, Hastie ND (1995) Subnuclear localization of WT1 in splicing or transcription factor domains is regulated by alternative splicing. Cell 81:391

94. Morrison AA, Ladomery MR (2006) Presence of WT1 in nuclear messenger RNP particles in the human acute myeloid leukemia cell lines HL60 and K562. Cancer Lett

95. Davies RC, Calvio C, Bratt E, Larsson SH, Lamond AI, Hastie ND (1998) WT1 interacts with the splicing factor U2AF65 in an isoform-dependent manner and can be incorporated into spliceosomes. Genes Dev 12:3217

96. Englert C, Vidal M, Maheswaran S, Ge Y, Ezzell RM, Isselbacher KJ, Haber DA (1995) Truncated WT1 mutants alter the subnuclear localization of the wild-type protein. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 92:11960

97. Scholz H, Kirschner KM (2005) A role for the Wilms' tumor protein WT1 in organ development. Physiology (Bethesda) 20:54

98. Ito K, Oji Y, Tatsumi N, Shimizu S, Kanai Y, Nakazawa T, Asada M, Jomgeow T, Aoyagi S, Nakano Y, Tamaki H, Sakaguchi N, Shirakata T, Nishida S, Kawakami M, Tsuboi A, Oka Y, Tsujimoto Y, Sugiyama H (2006) Antiapoptotic function of 17AA(+)WT1 (Wilms' tumor gene) isoforms on the intrinsic apoptosis pathway. Oncogene

99. Renshaw J, Orr RM, Walton MI, Te Poele R, Williams RD, Wancewicz EV, Monia BP, Workman P, Pritchard-Jones K (2004) Disruption of WT1 gene expression and exon 5 splicing following cytotoxic drug treatment: antisense down-regulation of exon 5 alters target gene expression and inhibits cell survival. Mol Cancer Ther 3:1467

100. Richard DJ, Schumacher V, Royer-Pokora B, Roberts SG (2001) Par4 is a coactivator for a splice isoform-specific transcriptional activation domain in WT1. Genes Dev 15:328

101. Reddy JC, Hosono S, Licht JD (1995) The transcriptional effect of WT1 is modulated by choice of expression vector. J Biol Chem 270:29976

102. Englert C, Hou X, Maheswaran S, Bennett P, Ngwu C, Re GG, Garvin AJ, Rosner MR, Haber DA (1995) WT1 suppresses synthesis of the epidermal growth factor receptor and induces apoptosis. Embo J 14:4662

103. Werner H, Shen-Orr Z, Rauscher FJ, 3rd, Morris JF, Roberts CT, Jr., LeRoith D (1995) Inhibition of cellular proliferation by the Wilms' tumor suppressor WT1 is associated with suppression of insulin-like growth factor I receptor gene expression. Mol Cell Biol 15:3516

104. Lee SB, Huang K, Palmer R, Truong VB, Herzlinger D, Kolquist KA, Wong J, Paulding C, Yoon SK, Gerald W, Oliner JD, Haber DA (1999) The Wilms tumor suppressor WT1 encodes a transcriptional activator of amphiregulin. Cell 98:663

105. Dame C, Kirschner KM, Bartz KV, Wallach T, Hussels CS, Scholz H (2006) The Wilms' tumor suppressor, Wt1, is a transcriptional activator of the erythropoietin gene. Blood

106. Nichols KE, Re GG, Yan YX, Garvin AJ, Haber DA (1995) WT1 induces expression of insulin-like growth factor 2 in Wilms' tumor cells. Cancer Res 55:4540

107. Stanhope-Baker P, Williams BR (2000) Identification of connective tissue growth factor as a target of WT1 transcriptional regulation. J Biol Chem 275:38139

108. Kim J, Prawitt D, Bardeesy N, Torban E, Vicaner C, Goodyer P, Zabel B, Pelletier J (1999) The Wilms' tumor suppressor gene (wt1) product regulates Dax-1 gene expression during gonadal differentiation. Mol Cell Biol 19:2289

109. Hossain A, Saunders GF (2001) The human sex-determining gene SRY is a direct target of WT1. J Biol Chem 276:16817

110. Wagner KD, Wagner N, Schley G, Theres H, Scholz H (2003) The Wilms' tumor suppressor Wt1 encodes a transcriptional activator of the class IV POU-domain factor Pou4f2 (Brn-3b). Gene 305:217

111. Simpson LA, Burwell EA, Thompson KA, Shahnaz S, Chen AR, Loeb DM (2006) The anti-apoptotic gene A1/Bfl-1 is a WT1 target gene that mediates granulocytic differentiation and resistance to chemotherapy. Blood

112. Morrison DJ, English MA, Licht JD (2005) WT1 induces apoptosis through transcriptional regulation of the proapoptotic Bcl-2 family member Bak. Cancer Res 65:8174

113. Loeb DM, Korz D, Katsnelson M, Burwell EA, Friedman AD, Sukumar S (2002) Cyclin E is a target of WT1 transcriptional repression. J Biol Chem 277:19627

114. Li RS, Law GL, Seifert RA, Romaniuk PJ, Morris DR (1999) Ornithine decarboxylase is a transcriptional target of tumor suppressor WT1. Exp Cell Res 247:257

115. Guan LS, Rauchman M, Wang ZY (1998) Induction of Rb-associated protein (RbAp46) by Wilms' tumor suppressor WT1 mediates growth inhibition. J Biol Chem 273:27047

116. Hosono S, Gross I, English MA, Hajra KM, Fearon ER, Licht JD (2000) Ecadherin is a WT1 target gene. J Biol Chem 275:10943

117. Cook DM, Hinkes MT, Bernfield M, Rauscher FJ, 3rd (1996) Transcriptional activation of the syndecan-1 promoter by the Wilms' tumor protein WT1. Oncogene 13:1789

118. Wagner N, Wagner KD, Xing Y, Scholz H, Schedl A (2004) The major podocyte protein nephrin is transcriptionally activated by the Wilms' tumor suppressor WT1. J Am Soc Nephrol 15:3044

119. Palmer RE, Kotsianti A, Cadman B, Boyd T, Gerald W, Haber DA (2001) WT1 regulates the expression of the major glomerular podocyte membrane protein Podocalyxin. Curr Biol 11:1805

120. Gross I, Morrison DJ, Hyink DP, Georgas K, English MA, Mericskay M, Hosono S, Sassoon D, Wilson PD, Little M, Licht JD (2003) The receptor tyrosine kinase regulator sprouty1 is a target of the tumor suppressor WT1 and important for kidney development. J Biol Chem 25:25

121. Han X, Chesney RW (2003) Regulation of taurine transporter gene (TauT) by WT1. FEBS Lett 540:71

122. Oh S, Song Y, Yim J, Kim TK (1999) The Wilms' tumor 1 tumor suppressor gene represses transcription of the human telomerase reverse transcriptase gene. J Biol Chem 274:37473

123. Maurer U, Jehan F, Englert C, Hubinger G, Weidmann E, DeLuca HF, Bergmann L (2001) The Wilms' tumor gene product (WT1) modulates the response to 1,25dihydroxyvitamin D3 by induction of the vitamin D receptor. J Biol Chem 276:3727

124. Wagner KD, Wagner N, Sukhatme VP, Scholz H (2001) Activation of vitamin D receptor by the Wilms' tumor gene product mediates apoptosis of renal cells. J Am Soc Nephrol 12:1188

125. Johnstone RW, See RH, Sells SF, Wang J, Muthukkumar S, Englert C, Haber DA, Licht JD, Sugrue SP, Roberts T, Rangnekar VM, Shi Y (1996) A novel repressor, par-4, modulates transcription and growth suppression functions of the Wilms' tumor suppressor WT1. Mol Cell Biol 16:6945

126. Wang W, Lee SB, Palmer R, Ellisen LW, Haber DA (2001) A functional interaction with CBP contributes to transcriptional activation by the Wilms tumor suppressor WT1. J Biol Chem 276:16810

127. Maheswaran S, Englert C, Zheng G, Lee SB, Wong J, Harkin DP, Bean J, Ezzell R, Garvin AJ, McCluskey RT, DeCaprio JA, Haber DA (1998) Inhibition of cellular proliferation by the Wilms tumor suppressor WT1 requires association with the inducible chaperone Hsp70. Genes Dev 12:1108

128. Matsuzawa-Watanabe Y, Inoue J, Semba K (2003) Transcriptional activity of testis-determining factor SRY is modulated by the Wilms' tumor 1 gene product, WT1. Oncogene 22:7900

129. Nachtigal MW, Hirokawa Y, Enyeart-VanHouten DL, Flanagan JN, Hammer GD, Ingraham HA (1998) Wilms' tumor 1 and Dax-1 modulate the orphan nuclear receptor SF-1 in sex-specific gene expression. Cell 93:445

130. Moffett P, Bruening W, Nakagama H, Bardeesy N, Housman D, Housman DE, Pelletier J (1995) Antagonism of WT1 activity by protein self-association. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 92:11105

131. Wang ZY, Qiu QQ, Seufert W, Taguchi T, Testa JR, Whitmore SA, Callen DF, Welsh D, Shenk T, Deuel TF (1996) Molecular cloning of the cDNA and chromosome localization of the gene for human ubiquitin-conjugating enzyme 9. J Biol Chem 271:24811

132. Carpenter B, Hill KJ, Charalambous M, Wagner KJ, Lahiri D, James DI, Andersen JS, Schumacher V, Royer-Pokora B, Mann M, Ward A, Roberts SG (2004) BASP1 is a transcriptional cosuppressor for the Wilms' tumor suppressor protein WT1. Mol Cell Biol 24:537

133. Discenza MT, He S, Lee TH, Chu LL, Bolon B, Goodyer P, Eccles M, Pelletier J (2003) WT1 is a modifier of the Pax2 mutant phenotype: cooperation and interaction between WT1 and Pax2. Oncogene 22:8145

134. Little NA, Hastie ND, Davies RC (2000) Identification of WTAP, a novel Wilms' tumour 1-associating protein. Hum Mol Genet 9:2231

135. Johnstone RW, Wang J, Tommerup N, Vissing H, Roberts T, Shi Y (1998) Ciao 1 is a novel WD40 protein that interacts with the tumor suppressor protein WT1. J Biol Chem 273:10880

136. Lee TH, Lwu S, Kim J, Pelletier J (2002) Inhibition of Wilms tumor 1 transactivation by bone marrow zinc finger 2, a novel transcriptional repressor. J Biol Chem 277:44826

137. Maheswaran S, Englert C, Bennett P, Heinrich G, Haber DA (1995) The WT1 gene product stabilizes p53 and inhibits p53-mediated apoptosis. Genes Dev 9:2143

138. Maheswaran S, Park S, Bernard A, Morris JF, Rauscher FJ, 3rd, Hill DE, Haber DA (1993) Physical and functional interaction between WT1 and p53 proteins. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 90:5100

139. Scharnhorst V, Dekker P, van der Eb AJ, Jochemsen AG (2000) Physical interaction between Wilms tumor 1 and p73 proteins modulates their functions. J Biol Chem 275:10202

140. Maheswaran S, Englert C, Lee SB, Ezzel RM, Settleman J, Haber DA (1998) E1B 55K sequesters WT1 along with p53 within a cytoplasmic body in adenovirustransformed kidney cells. Oncogene 16:2041

141. Kim JM, Hong Y, Semba K, Kim S (2000) Physical and functional interaction between the HCMV IE2 protein and the Wilms' tumor suppressor WT1. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 267:59

142. Kelly PF, Vandergriff J, Nathwani A, Nienhuis AW, Vanin EF (2000) Highly efficient gene transfer into cord blood nonobese diabetic/severe combined immunodeficiency repopulating cells by oncoretroviral vector particles pseudotyped with the feline endogenous retrovirus (RD114) envelope protein. Blood 96:1206

143. DiMartino JF, Selleri L, Traver D, Firpo MT, Rhee J, Warnke R, O'Gorman S, Weissman IL, Cleary ML (2001) The Hox cofactor and proto-oncogene Pbx1 is required for maintenance of definitive hematopoiesis in the fetal liver. Blood 98:618

144. Kimura S, Roberts AW, Metcalf D, Alexander WS (1998) Hematopoietic stem cell deficiencies in mice lacking c-Mpl, the receptor for thrombopoietin. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 95:1195

145. Mackarehtschian K, Hardin JD, Moore KA, Boast S, Goff SP, Lemischka IR (1995) Targeted disruption of the flk2/flt3 gene leads to deficiencies in primitive hematopoietic progenitors. Immunity 3:147

146. Maurer U, Weidmann E, Karakas T, Hoelzer D, Bergmann L (1997) Wilms tumor gene (wt1) mRNA is equally expressed in blast cells from acute myeloid leukemia and normal CD34+ progenitors. Blood 90:4230

147. Cheng T, Rodrigues N, Shen H, Yang Y, Dombkowski D, Sykes M, Scadden DT (2000) Hematopoietic stem cell quiescence maintained by p21cip1/waf1. Science 287:1804

148. Little MH, Clarke J, Byrne J, Dunn R, Smith PJ (1992) Allelic loss on chromosome 11p is a less frequent event in bilateral than in unilateral Wilms' tumours. Eur J Cancer 28A:1876

149. Discenza MT, Pelletier J (2004) Insights into the physiological role of WT1 from studies of genetically modified mice. Physiol Genomics 16:287

150. Chua BT, Volbracht C, Tan KO, Li R, Yu VC, Li P (2003) Mitochondrial translocation of cofilin is an early step in apoptosis induction. Nat Cell Biol 5:1083

151. Krug U, Ganser A, Koeffler HP (2002) Tumor suppressor genes in normal and malignant hematopoiesis. Oncogene 21:3475

152. Zhou RH, Kokame K, Tsukamoto Y, Yutani C, Kato H, Miyata T (2001) Characterization of the human NDRG gene family: a newly identified member, NDRG4, is specifically expressed in brain and heart. Genomics 73:86

153. Cilloni D, Messa F, Gottardi E, Fava M, Arruga F, Defilippi I, Carturan S, Messa E, Morotti A, Giugliano E, Rege-Cambrin G, Alberti D, Baccarani M, Saglio G (2004) Sensitivity to imatinib therapy may be predicted by testing Wilms tumor gene expression and colony growth after a short in vitro incubation. Cancer 101:979

154. Tuna M, Chavez-Reyes A, Tari AM (2005) HER2/neu increases the expression of Wilms' Tumor 1 (WT1) protein to stimulate S-phase proliferation and inhibit apoptosis in breast cancer cells. Oncogene 24:1648

155. Miyoshi Y, Ando A, Egawa C, Taguchi T, Tamaki Y, Tamaki H, Sugiyama H, Noguchi S (2002) High expression of Wilms' tumor suppressor gene predicts poor prognosis in breast cancer patients. Clin Cancer Res 8:1167

156. Oji Y, Miyoshi S, Maeda H, Hayashi S, Tamaki H, Nakatsuka S, Yao M, Takahashi E, Nakano Y, Hirabayashi H, Shintani Y, Oka Y, Tsuboi A, Hosen N, Asada M, Fujioka T, Murakami M, Kanato K, Motomura M, Kim EH, Kawakami M, Ikegame K, Ogawa H, Aozasa K, Kawase I, Sugiyama H (2002) Overexpression of the Wilms' tumor gene WT1 in de novo lung cancers. Int J Cancer 100:297

157. Oji Y, Yamamoto H, Nomura M, Nakano Y, Ikeba A, Nakatsuka S, Abeno S, Kiyotoh E, Jomgeow T, Sekimoto M, Nezu R, Yoshikawa Y, Inoue Y, Hosen N, Kawakami M, Tsuboi A, Oka Y, Ogawa H, Souda S, Aozasa K, Monden M, Sugiyama H (2003) Overexpression of the Wilms' tumor gene WT1 in colorectal adenocarcinoma. Cancer Sci 94:712

158. Zhao W, Kitidis C, Fleming MD, Lodish HF, Ghaffari S (2006) Erythropoietin stimulates phosphorylation and activation of GATA-1 via the PI3-kinase/AKT signaling pathway. Blood 107:907

159. Burchert A, Cai D, Hofbauer LC, Samuelsson MK, Slater EP, Duyster J, Ritter M, Hochhaus A, Muller R, Eilers M, Schmidt M, Neubauer A (2004) Interferon consensus sequence binding protein (ICSBP; IRF-8) antagonizes BCR/ABL and down-regulates bcl-2. Blood 103:3480

160. Schmidt M, Bies J, Tamura T, Ozato K, Wolff L (2004) The interferon regulatory factor ICSBP/IRF-8 in combination with PU.1 up-regulates expression of tumor suppressor p15(Ink4b) in murine myeloid cells. Blood 103:4142

161. Tamura T, Kong HJ, Tunyaplin C, Tsujimura H, Calame K, Ozato K (2003) ICSBP/IRF-8 inhibits mitogenic activity of p210 Bcr/Abl in differentiating myeloid progenitor cells. Blood 102:4547